UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA

GRADUATE COLLEGE

DISENTANGLING SELF-REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE IN ACTIVE LEARNING: TOWARD A DYNAMIC PROCESS PERSPECTIVE ON COMPLEX SKILL ACQUISITION

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

JAY HARDY Norman, Oklahoma 2015

DISENTANGLING SELF-REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE IN ACTIVE LEARNING: TOWARD A DYNAMIC PROCESS PERSPECTIVE ON COMPLEX SKILL ACQUISITION

A DISSERTATION APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

Dr. Eric Day, Chair

Dr. Shane Connelly

Dr. Hairong Song

Dr. Robert Terry

Dr. Michael R. Buckley

© Copyright by JAY HENDERSON HARDY III 2015 All Rights Reserved.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Eric A. Day, for his guidance and dedication to my training. I would like to thank my committee members for their valuable input and role in my decision to attend the University of Oklahoma. I would like to thank Logan Steele and my team of RA's for all of their hard work coding the exploration data. I am also grateful to the University of Oklahoma Foundation for their generous investment in my educational career that made earning an advanced degree a reality for me. Finally, I would like to thank my wife, Kimbre Hardy for her love and support in enabling me to pursue my dream of earning my doctorate, my son Jay Hardy IV for bringing immeasurable joy to me life, and my family for the sacrifices they have made to allow me to better myself through education.

Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	. vii
List of Figures	viii
Abstract	ix
Introduction	1
The Incremental Predictive Validity of Exploratory Behavior in Active Learning	5
The Effect of Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior	8
Dynamics of Self-regulation and Performance	. 11
Self-efficacy and performance	. 14
Metacognition and performance	. 15
Exploration and performance	. 17
Dynamics among behavioral and cognitive/motivational self-regulatory processes	s 19
Self-efficacy and exploratory behavior	. 20
Metacognition and Exploratory Behavior	. 22
Method	. 23
Participants	. 23
Performance Task	. 24
Procedures	. 25
Exploration Manipulation	. 27
Measures	. 27
Learning outcomes	. 27
Self-efficacy	. 28
Metacognition	. 28
Exploratory behavior	. 29
Controls	. 31
Results	. 32
Measurement Invariance	. 32
Longitudinal Trends and the Influence of Individual Differences	. 33
Incremental Predictive Validity of Exploratory Behavior	. 35
The Effect of Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior and Learning	
Outcomes	. 35
Dynamics of Self-regulation and Performance	. 36
Self-efficacy and performance	. 39
Metacognition and performance	. 40
Exploratory behavior and performance	. 40
Dynamics among Behavioral and Cognitive/Motivational Self-regulatory Process	ses
	. 41
Exploratory behavior and self-efficacy	. 41
Exploratory behavior and metacognition	. 42
Discussion	. 42
The Incremental Predictive Validity of Exploratory Behavior in Active Learning	. 43
The Effect of Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior	. 45
Dynamics of Self-regulation and Performance	. 47
Self-efficacy and performance.	. 48

Table of Contents

Metacognition and performance	50
Exploratory behavior and performance.	
Dynamics among Behavioral and Cognitive/Motivational Self-regulatory Pr	rocesses
	53
Self-efficacy and exploratory behavior.	
Metacognition and exploratory behavior	
Toward a Dynamic Process Model of Self-regulated Learning	57
Limitations and Directions for Future Research	60
Conclusion	63
References	65
Appendix A: Tables	76
Appendix B: Figures	83
Appendix C: Study Protocol	
Appendix D: Exploration Instuctions	88

List of Tables

Table 1. Means, Standard Deviations, and Intercorrelations of Study Variables at the	
Between- and Within-person Level	77
Table 2. Fit Statistics and Predictor Coefficients for Conditional Latent Growth Model	ls
	78
Table 3. Hierarchical Multiple Regression Results for the Prediction of Learning	
Outcomes by Self-regulatory Processes	79
Table 4. Hierarchical Multiple Regression Results for the Exploration Instructions on	
Exploratory Behavior and Learning Outcomes	80
Table 5. Fit Statistics, Coefficients, and Inter-factor Relationships for Cross-lagged	
Latent Growth Models with Practice Performance	81
Table 6. Fit Statistics, Coefficients, and Inter-factor Relationships for Cross-lagged	
Latent Growth Models with Exploratory Behavior	82

List of Figures

Figure 1. Dynamic trends in study variables over the course of practice	84
Figure 2. Models representing the specification of the bivariate cross-lagged latent	
growth model of the dynamic relationship between repeated variables	85
Figure 3. Dynamic process model of self-regulated learning	86

Abstract

Self-regulation is central to many modern theories of training and development, including active-learning theory. However, research in this area often overlooks the role of behavior in self-regulated learning and fails to account for dynamics in the learning process. Using a laboratory study designed to address these limitations, I found that behavioral self-regulation (i.e., exploratory behavior) positively predicted learning and performance outcomes beyond the effects of cognitive and motivational self-regulatory processes (i.e., metacognition and self-efficacy). However, contrary to my predictions, exploration-encouragement instructions did not significantly influence learner exploratory behavior. Regarding self-regulation-performance relationships, I found that the exploration-performance, metacognition-performance, and self-efficacyperformance relationships were all reciprocal in nature. Specifically, lagged exploratory behavior and lagged metacognition were positively related to performance, whereas lagged self-efficacy was negatively related to performance. Performance-to-selfregulation feedback effects were found as well, such that lagged performance was positively related to self-efficacy and metacognition, but was negatively related to exploratory behavior. The interrelationships among behavioral and cognitive/motivational self-regulatory processes were also reciprocal. Specifically, lagged exploratory behavior was positively related to subsequent self-efficacy and metacognition, but lagged self-efficacy and metacognition were negatively related to exploration. Collectively, these findings (a) make a case for including behavioral constructs in models of self-regulated learning and (b) demonstrate that within-person interrelationships among self-regulated learning processes and performance are

ix

dynamic, and are often more complex than was previously thought. Results are discussed regarding implications for theory, research, and practice in active learning.

Introduction

One of the keys to effective functioning in modern society is the ability to maximize long-term interests by controlling impulses and focusing attention and behavior where it is most needed. As such, the ability to engage in effective *selfregulation*, defined as a set of processes that "enable an individual to guide goal directed activities over time and across changing circumstances" through the "modulation of thought, affect, behavior or attention" (Karoly, 1993, p. 25), may be a person's most essential asset (Porath & Bateman, 2006). Efficient allocation of resources is particularly important for learning difficult and complex tasks (Kozlowski et al., 2001). As a result, *self-regulated learning*, defined as the "modulation of affective, cognitive, and behavioral processes throughout a learning experience to reach a desired level of achievement" (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011, p. 421) is a central component in many modern theories of adult learning and development. Over the last 30 years, self-regulated learning has been one of the most heavily researched topics in the training and development literature (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011), although scholarly interest in the topic goes back much further (Zimmerman, 1986).

Nevertheless, many important gaps in our understanding of how adults regulate their learning remain. For instance, scholars have only recently begun to measure multiple regulatory processes simultaneously when studying self-regulated learning (e.g., Bell & Kozlowski, 2008; Keith & Frese, 2005; Sitzmann & Ely, 2011). Given that meta-analytic findings have established that many self-regulated learning constructs are highly intercorrelated (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011), more work is needed to disentangle the nature of these interrelationships and their implications for the learning process.

Another limitation of this literature is that important behavioral self-regulatory processes are often overlooked in favor of a greater focus on cognitive, motivational, and emotional self-regulation (Hardy, Day, Hughes, Wang, & Schuelke, 2014). Although behavior is recognized as a fundamental self-regulatory process in definitions and models of self-regulated learning (e.g., Kozlowski et al., 2001; Sitzmann & Ely, 2011), researchers often neglect to examine it as such. This tendency limits the theoretical and practical applications of available research for addressing common criticisms of learner-guided training (Hardy et al., 2014). Finally, self-regulation is, by definition, a dynamic, within-person phenomenon (Lord, Diefendorff, Schmidt, & Hall, 2010; Vancouver, Weinhardt, & Vigo, 2014; Yeo & Neal, 2013). However, the majority of research on self-regulation fails to disentangle within- from between-person effects (Lord et al., 2010). Consequentially, little is known about dynamics in the relationships between self-regulatory processes and performance or among cognitive/motivational self-regulatory processes and behavioral self-regulation.

The purpose of the current study is to address these gaps in the self-regulated learning literature in pursuit of four primary research goals. To start, I seek to bolster the case for including behavioral self-regulation in research on active learning. Specifically, I focus on the role of exploratory behavior, defined as an active interaction on the part of the trainee with the training environment through attempts at multiple solutions to the problem at hand (Dormann & Frese, 1994). Although a study by Hardy et al. (2014) found that exploratory behavior was positively related to complex skill acquisition, no empirical research has yet examined the extent to which exploratory behavior can predict learning outcomes above established cognitive and motivational

self-regulated learning processes. Identifying key mechanisms in learning contexts carries important implications for the design of active-learning training. Furthermore, demonstrating that exploratory behavior is not simply a byproduct of—or distal antecedent to—established self-regulatory constructs is important for justifying research focusing on exploration's unique contribution to learning. Accordingly, my first research goal is to examine the incremental validity of exploration relative to cognitive (i.e., metacognition) and motivational (i.e., self-efficacy) self-regulatory processes on proximal and distal learning outcomes. I focus primarily on self-efficacy and metacognition in the present study over possible alternatives (e.g., emotion control, effort, etc.) because (1) they are the two most frequently examined and well established constructs in the self-regulated learning literature and (2) both are strongly related to a wide range of other self-regulatory constructs (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011).

My second research goal is to examine the effect of exploration-encouragement instructions on exploratory behavior in active learning. Many active-learning training interventions assume that instructional design elements boost learner exploration. However, researchers rarely isolate the effect of training design on learner behavioral mechanisms. Examining how training design elements directly influence behavioral self-regulated learning processes provides information that can be used to modify existing training to meet the needs of learners and to adapt existing principles to other areas (Keith & Frese, 2005). Along these lines, I seek to (a) examine if simple, exploration-encouragement instructions influence learner exploratory behavior and (b) test if intervention effects are dependent on learner capability.

My third and fourth goals, respectively, are to address questions of directionality in (a) the relationships between performance and self-regulated learning and (b) the interrelationships among behavioral and cognitive/motivational self-regulation. By combining repeated measurements of self-regulated learning processes over a series of performance sessions with cross-lagged analyses designed to tease apart directional effects, I hope to lay the foundation for a process model of complex skill acquisition. Addressing the dynamic nature of self-regulated learning is important for clarifying the role of self-regulation in active learning and for identifying where guidance may offer the greatest potential benefit.

Toward these ends, I conducted a laboratory study in which participants underwent approximately 3 hours of training on a first-person-shooter computer game that involves both cognitive and psychomotor demands. Trainees received either exploration-encouragement or control instructions prior to and during the practice phase. Exploration was then measured by independent raters who coded behaviors representing different aspects of exploration observed in video playbacks of practice trials. Self-efficacy and metacognition were measured via repeated administrations of self-report scales before and after each practice session. Learning outcomes included practice performance, task knowledge, analogical transfer performance, adaptive transfer performance, and task enjoyment. In the sections that follow, I review my rationale guiding the development of each hypothesis, which are encompassed by the four research goals.

The Incremental Predictive Validity of Exploratory Behavior in Active Learning

Founded in the constructivist vision, active-learning approaches conceptualize training as an inductive, learner-driven process that facilitates a deeper understanding of task rules, principles, and strategies through individual exploration (Bell & Kozlowski, 2010). As such, the success of active-learning training requires that instructional design elements positively influence exploratory behavior and that learner exploration, in turn, positively influences learning and performance outcomes. Although theorists have long acknowledged the value of exploration in the learning process (Berlyne, 1960, 1966; Bruner, 1961; Greif & Keller, 1990), researchers often operationalize it as a core training design element rather than as a behavioral process (for a review, see Bell & Kozlowski, 2008). As a result, exploration is often studied as a distal construct with effects on learning outcomes that are assumed to be mediated by more proximal mechanisms such as metacognition (Ford & Kraiger, 1995; Frese, Albrecht, Altmann, & Lang, 1988), intrinsic motivation (Debowski, Wood, & Bandura, 2001), or willingness to make errors (Keith & Frese, 2005). From this perspective, one might argue that a direct focus on the role of exploratory behavior in active learning is unnecessary, as its positive influence on learning outcomes can be accounted for by cognitive and motivational self-regulation. In fact, apart from its positive influence on learner cognition, some researchers regard learner-initiated exploratory behavior as a nuisance that contributes to inefficiencies in the learning process (Bell & Kozlowski, 2002; Debowski et al., 2001; Mayer, 2004).

Clearly cognitive, motivational, and emotional self-regulatory processes are important in active-learning training and in the learning process in general (Bell &

Kozlowski, 2008, 2010; Sitzmann & Ely, 2011). As such, there is a relatively welldeveloped empirical literature on these topics (e.g., Brown & Ford, 2002; Debowski et al., 2001; Keith & Frese, 2005). In contrast, very few studies included in Sitzmann and Elv's (2011) meta-analysis of self-regulated learning directly measured learner behavior. As a result of this lack of research attention, the role of behavior in the learning process remains poorly understood. In a study designed to address these limitations, Hardy et al. (2014) found that exploratory behavior directly benefited learning outcomes in complex task learning. Specifically, learner exploration incrementally predicted proximal performance and post-practice knowledge, performance, and adaptability outcomes beyond the influence of general mental ability (GMA) and pre-training task-related knowledge. These findings support the notion that trainee exploration operates as a systematic self-regulated learning process and suggest that it should be operationalized as such. However, neither cognitive nor motivational self-regulation was measured in Hardy et. al.'s study. Accordingly, their findings cannot speak to the value of exploratory behavior relative to the contributions of established cognitive and motivational self-regulation constructs. Accordingly, in the present study, I seek to build upon and extend this research by measuring exploratory behavior directly in relation to other self-regulated learning processes in an effort to (a) better understand its unique role in self-regulated learning and (b) pinpoint how to leverage specific training elements and eliminate those that are redundant or detrimental to learning.

Active learning theory suggests that exploration should affect learning outcomes through relationships with cognitive and self-regulatory processes. Indeed, it is difficult

for one to be truly engaged in active learning without first exploring. Along these lines, Kozlowski et al. (2001) noted that "doing, thinking, and feeling all affect each other" and that "all three are engaged concurrently, such that whenever a trainee has an experience which stimulates her to practice more, she will simultaneously become more cognizant about her practice behaviors" (p. 94). When training is designed to encourage individuals to engage in various cognitive, motivation, and emotion-based selfregulation during practice, it is expected that many benefits of these processes can be attributed to some change in behavior (Kozlowski et al., 2001). However, I argue that exploration also has a direct influence on learning outcomes. Specifically, curiosity theory (Berlyne, 1966; Loewenstein, 1994) suggests that exploration provides learners with the opportunity to engage and resolve novelty (Harrison, 2012), which directly helps increase one's effectiveness in interacting with the environment (White, 1959). Given this central role in the learning process, I expected that exploratory behavior would provide incremental predictive validity beyond the effects of metacognition and self-efficacy. A focus on exploration can provide insights into the mechanisms of adult learning by drawing attention to the behavioral component of self-regulation often missing in the empirical literature. Such research will help address many of the criticisms of exploratory behavior in active learning.

Because learning is inherently multidimensional (Kraiger, Ford, & Salas, 1993), it is important to consider a variety of criteria when examining relationships between self-regulation constructs and the outcomes of training, such as proximal outcomes (i.e., knowledge and skill), distal outcomes (i.e., adaptation) outcomes, and trainee reactions. This is particularly important given arguments that exploration-based training benefits

adaptability while potentially undermining proximal performance (e.g., Bell & Kozlowski, 2008; McDaniel & Schlager, 1990). In the present study, I examined multiple learning outcomes including task knowledge, practice performance, and analogical and adaptive transfer performance, and training enjoyment. *Task knowledge* is composed of basic task knowledge, defined as the comprehension of basic task features and critical tasks, and strategic task knowledge, defined as the understanding necessary for situational assessment and prioritization (Kozlowski et al., 2001). Skill-based outcomes included *practice performance*, defined as the capability to be effective in familiar performance situations after training. Skill adaptability or *adaptive transfer* (i.e., far transfer) is defined as the capability to use one's existing knowledge and skill in response to novel (e.g., more difficult, complex, and dynamic) performance demands (Ivancic & Hesketh, 2000). *Task-enjoyment* refers to trainee perceptions of the task and how well they liked the training.

Hypothesis 1: Exploratory behavior will incrementally predict learning outcomes (i.e., practice performance, task knowledge, analogical transfer, adaptive transfer, and task enjoyment) above the effects of self-efficacy and metacognition.

The Effect of Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior

According to active learning theory, the role of training design should be to supplement, shape, and support learner self-regulation (Bell & Kozlowski, 2008, 2010). As such, research that clarifies how training design elements directly influence learner self-regulatory processes is necessary to enable practitioners to diagnose and correct inefficiencies in existing training and to adapt instructional principles to new contexts (Keith & Frese, 2005). This information can also be used to test common assumptions essential to the effectiveness of active-learning training. For example, proponents of error management training (e.g., Gully, Payne, Koles, & Whiteman, 2002; Heimbeck, Frese, Sonnentag, & Keith, 2003; Keith & Frese, 2005) maintain that active-learning instructional design elements should positively influence learner exploration. However, Hardy et al. (2014) did not find a direct effect of error framing instructions on the frequency of learner exploratory behavior. Instead, they found that error instructions moderated the GMA-exploration relationship such that higher-GMA learners explored more in response to positive error framing whereas lower-GMA learners explored less. These findings suggest that the intended effects of training design elements on learner behavior may not always be straightforward—and in some cases may be contingent on characteristics of the learner.

One possible explanation for the lack of a direct effect of error framing on exploratory behavior in Hardy et al.'s study is that positive error framing instructions represent, at best, an indirect approach to boosting learner exploration. As such, one might expect that instructions that more directly encourage learners to engage the task and explore should have a stronger influence on learner behavior. Supporting this notion, Wendel and Frese (1987) found that learners using computer software manuals that explicitly and implicitly supported the use of exploratory strategies tried a greater number of novel software commands than learners using the commercial manual. This led Wendel and Frese to conclude, "it is useful and possible to encourage subjects to explore" (p. 948). In an extension of these findings to experimenter instructions, Frese, Albrecht, Altmann, Lang, et al. (1988) found that exploratory learning styles were positively related to learning outcomes. Furthermore, trainees encouraged by the instructor to explore learned the task more quickly and performed better on tests of skill transfer than trainees who were simply provided the correct task solutions during practice. Exploration-encouragement instructions reduce anxiety associated with exploration and allow learners to approach the learning process in a manner more consistent with their natural tendencies (Carroll & Mack, 1984; Carroll, Mack, Lewis, Grischkowsky, & Robertson, 1985).

Hypothesis 2: Trainees who receive exploration-encouragement instructions will explore more than trainees who receive no exploration-encouragement instructions.

Nevertheless, many critics of learner-controlled and exploration-based training argue that exploratory behavior imposes an excessive cognitive load on many learners (Kirschner, Sweller, & Clark, 2006) and may distract them from engaging in cognitive self-regulation in a way that ultimately limits the effectiveness of exploration-based training (Mayer, 2004). Contrary to these predictions, Hardy et al. (2014) found that when learners explored, neither GMA nor pre-training task-related knowledge moderated the relationship between exploration and learning outcomes. Instead of a moderating effect, they found that GMA and pre-training task-related knowledge were directly and positively related to overall levels of exploratory behavior during practice. In other words, exploration-based training interventions may not be well suited for lower capability individuals, and not because trainees with low GMA or low pre-training task-related knowledge do not learn from exploration, but rather that such trainees simply explore less when given the opportunity. As a result, for many learners, training design elements must do more than simply make it possible to explore.

Specifically, instruction should actively encourage and, in some cases, require learner exploratory behavior (Wendel & Frese, 1987).

Given the complexity of the task used in the present study, I expected that decisions to engage in exploration in response to exploration-encouragement instructions would be contingent on a trainee's GMA and pre-training task-related knowledge. Higher capability learners are able to recognize and engage a greater amount of novelty in the environment due to their greater availability of cognitive resources (Norman & Bobrow, 1975). Thus, I expected that trainees higher in GMA and pre-training task-related knowledge would explore more in response to explorationencouragement instructions relative to trainees lower in GMA and pre-training taskrelated knowledge.

Hypothesis 3: There will be an interaction between exploration instructions and trainee (a) GMA and (b) pre-training task-related knowledge such that the effects of exploration-encouragement instructions on exploratory behavior will be stronger for trainees higher in GMA and pre-training task-related knowledge.

Dynamics of Self-regulation and Performance

Cross-sectional designs are the most commonly used approach for studying the relationship between self-regulation and performance. However, single time point, bivariate methods provide only limited information concerning whether self-regulatory processes precede or follow changes in performance (Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002). Similarly, simple, predictive designs rely on causality assumptions in the relationships among variables that are notoriously difficult to test, but are necessary for practical application of the findings. The result is an oversimplified understanding of what are otherwise dynamic and complex phenomena (Yeo & Neal, 2013). Answering questions regarding directionality in the self-regulation-performance relationship can

help clarify which mechanisms hold the greatest potential for positively influencing the learning process. This information can be used by practitioners who wish to better structure training interventions in a way that supports learner self-regulation and addresses inefficiencies in their natural tendencies. By combining repeated measurements of self-efficacy, metacognition, and exploration over a series of performance sessions with cross-lagged analyses that address issues of directionality, I hope to lay the foundation for a process model of skill acquisition that can speak to how the learning process unfolds. In the following sections, I start by describing four possible self-regulation-performance relationships. I then review the evidence for the bivariate relationship between each of the three self-regulatory processes examined in the present study with performance. Finally, I offer predictions and research questions regarding the directionality of their effects.

There are four general patterns one might expect in a bivariate relationship between a self-regulatory process and performance. In the first relationship, the selfregulatory process precedes performance such that lagged self-regulation predicts performance, but not vice versa. This is the most practically useful relationship because it suggests that an intervention targeting the self-regulatory process will lead to some meaningful and predictable change in learning outcomes. In the second relationship, the opposite pattern exists such that prior performance influences subsequent selfregulation. This relationship implies that self-regulation is a by-product of performance rather than a cause. Although measuring such a process may be useful as a diagnostic tool, an intervention designed to target it directly in order to influence learning outcomes may not be worthwhile. The third type of relationship is a reciprocal

relationship, where the self-regulatory process shows a lagged effect on performance, which subsequently influences future self-regulation. Reciprocal relationships can reflect one of three possible patterns: (1) an upward spiral, (2) a downward spiral, or (3) a self-correcting spiral (Lindsley, Brass, & Thomas, 1995). Variables in upward and downward reciprocal spirals build upon one another such that changes in one reinforce changes in the other (Masuch, 1985; Weick, 1979). For example, proactivity is positively related to increases in job control, which positively predicts subsequent increases in proactivity (Li, Fay, Frese, Harms, & Gao, 2014). Similarly, perceptions of high job demands negatively influence mental health, which increases future perceptions of job demands (De Lange, Taris, Kompier, Houtman, & Bongers, 2004). In contrast, self-correcting spirals allow for adjustments in future behavior that reverse previous changes in each variable. For example, an increase in self-efficacy may lead a learner to reduce the resources allocated to an accepted goal, which may negatively impact future progress toward that goal (Vancouver, More, & Yoder, 2008). Poor goal progress may then negatively influence self-efficacy, signaling to the learner to increase resource allocation in pursuit of their goal (Yeo & Neal, 2013). Finally, it is important to acknowledge the possibility of spurious relationships such that covariation between any two variables is the result of shared variance among the self-regulatory process, performance, and a third, unmeasured confounding variable (Rogosa, 1980). Thus, when considering questions of directionality, it is important to recognize that causal conclusions can be strengthened but not firmly established by examining longitudinal bivariate models relative to cross-sectional designs.

Self-efficacy and performance

Self-efficacy refers to the belief in one's capability to organize and execute the course of action required to succeed and produce positive results (Bandura, 1997). Recent developments in the self-efficacy literature offer a prime example of how considering dynamics by disentangling between- from within-person effects can challenge common causality assumptions in self-regulation-performance relationships. Much of the research on self-efficacy has been based on the predictions of social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), of which self-efficacy is a central component (Bandura, 1997). This perspective argues that learners with higher levels of self-efficacy will be more likely to develop, accept, and commit to difficult performance goals, and will perform at a higher level as a result. Supporting this notion, meta-analyses have shown strong, between-person relationships between self-efficacy and performance/training outcomes (G. Chen, Casper, & Cortina, 2001; Colquitt, LePine, & Noe, 2000; Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998).

However, a growing body of research focused on addressing questions regarding directionality in the self-efficacy-performance relationship have demonstrated that selfefficacy may be unrelated, or even negatively related, to performance at the withinperson level (Beattie, Lief, Adamoulas, & Oliver, 2011; Beck & Schmidt, 2012; Vancouver et al., 2008; Vancouver, Thompson, Tischner, & Putka, 2002; Yeo & Neal, 2006) and, under the right conditions, at the between-person level as well (Vancouver, Gullekson, Morse, & Warren, 2014). Collectively, these findings suggest that selfefficacy may be a reflection of past performance and actual capacity more than a predictor of future performance (Heggestad & Kanfer, 2005; Sitzmann & Yeo, 2013).

In multiple goal settings and in contexts characterized by time constraints, weak or even negative relationships between self-efficacy and performance may ultimately be adaptive, as they lead learners to reallocate resources where they are most needed (Beck & Schmidt, 2015; Vancouver, Weinhardt, et al., 2014). Nevertheless, this body of research calls into question assumptions regarding directionality of the self-efficacy to performance relationship in that they suggest that self-efficacy may be a result, rather than cause of performance.

The current study contributes to this literature by examining the self-efficacyperformance relationship using cross-lagged panel analyses with non-concurrent assessment (Vancouver, Gullekson, & Bliese, 2007)—an approach that has been shown to be robust to many of the statistical confounds Bandura (2012) argued may explain findings of negative or null within-person self-efficacy-performance relationships. Consistent with the research described above, I expected a unidirectional relationship between self-efficacy and performance such that self-efficacy is an indicator, rather than cause, of changes in performance.

Hypothesis 4: There will be a positive, unidirectional relationship between performance and self-efficacy such that lagged performance is positively related to self-efficacy.

Metacognition and performance

Metacognition refers to an awareness of various aspects of the self, task, and context in a learning environment (Pintrich, Wolters, & Baxter, 2000) and involves exerting control over planning, monitoring, and revising goal-appropriate behavior (Bell & Kozlowski, 2010). Metacognition is thought to be an important mediator of performance effects in self-regulated learning contexts, particularly in response to errors (Ivancic & Hesketh, 2000; Keith & Frese, 2005). However, meta-analytic findings have shown only a weak, albeit positive relationship between metacognition and learning at the between-person level (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011) and little work has considered dynamics in the metacognition-performance relationship. Nevertheless, planning and monitoring aspects of metacognition remain conceptually important to active learning theory given the relatively unstructured nature of the learning environment (Bell & Kozlowski, 2010; Schmidt & Ford, 2003). Research suggests that metacognition helps learners impose structure on the learning environment by allowing them to recognize changes in task demands and to develop task-appropriate solutions (Ivancic & Hesketh, 2000; Keith & Frese, 2005). Specifically, metacognition enables learners to evaluate factors that contributed to their successes and failures and to adjust and refine their approach accordingly, leading to learning and performance improvements (Ford, Smith, Weissbein, Gully, & Salas, 1998).

Although active monitoring of performance is central to the functioning of metacognition in the learning process, few studies have directly considered the effects of prior performance on metacognition at the within-person level. One notable exception is a recent study by Sitzmann and Ely (2010), who found a positive effect of learning on self-regulatory activity, including metacognition, which was itself positively related to subsequent learning outcomes. This finding is consistent with the conceptualization of metacognition as an exploitative self-regulatory process that allows learners to identify and capitalize on learning improvements. Successes provide learners with opportunities to monitor their performance, to reflect on their experiences, and to identify optimal approaches. Learners can then use this information to refine their

strategic approach going forward. As such, I expected a positive, reciprocal relationship between metacognition and performance such that prior performance generates metacognitive activity, which is positively related to subsequent performance.

Hypothesis 5: There is a positive, reciprocal relationship between performance and metacognition such that lagged performance is positively related to metacognition and lagged metacognition is positively related to performance.

Exploration and performance

The primary function of exploration in active learning is to enable learners to make sense of task novelty (Hardy et al., 2014). Thus, exploration-based training should benefit adult learners who choose to explore. Yet, studies that operationalize exploration as a distal, training design element often show crossover effects with learning outcomes such that trainees in exploration conditions perform worse during training phases but better in post-practice and transfer phases relative to trainees in proceduralized conditions (Bell & Kozlowski, 2008; McDaniel & Schlager, 1990). This may lead one to conclude that exploratory behavior is detrimental to proximal performance. However, these results are relative to proceduralized training programs in which performance may not solely reflect the volition of the learner. Trainees in proceduralized conditions are often provided with step-by-step task solutions during practice—an approach that directly affects proximal performance scores—whereas those in exploration-based conditions are not (e.g., Bell & Kozlowski, 2008; Dormann & Frese, 1994; Frese et al., 1991). Although this approach can be informative in the evaluation of interventions as a whole, such comparisons do not allow for conclusions regarding the effectiveness of exploratory behavior as a self-regulatory process because

trainee decisions and behavior are not the sole determinates of proximal performance outcomes.

When applying a direct measurement approach, Hardy et al. (2014) found that exploratory behavior was positively related to performance at both the between- and within-person levels. In other words, fluctuations in learner exploration during practice were positively related to subsequent performance. Based on these findings and the conceptualization of exploratory behavior as a systematic information-gathering part of the learning process, I expected that exploratory behavior would be positively related to subsequent performance. Indeed, I argue that major improvements in proximal performance are unlikely to come in the absence of exploratory behavior, as trainees who do not explore are less likely to encounter and are thus have fewer opportunities to resolve sources of novelty within the learning environment. As a result, learners who do not explore are less likely to acquire additional knowledge or skill.

Regarding the effect of prior performance on exploratory behavior, curiosity theory (Berlyne, 1954, 1966; Loewenstein, 1994) suggests that as learning occurs, the amount of task novelty one perceives is reduced. Reduced perceptions of novelty and increased feelings of efficacy diminish discrepancies learners perceive between the information available in the environment and one's current level of understanding—a difference known as the information-knowledge gap (Loewenstein, 1994). As performance increases, information-knowledge gaps are reduced, leading to similar reductions in exploratory behavior as learners transition away from strategy discovery and exploration and toward approaches that emphasize exploitation and refinement of known strategies. Along these lines, Hardy et al. (2014) found that exploratory behavior

steadily decreased over the course of practice whereas performance steadily increased. These inversely related trajectories are consistent with the notion that increases in prior performance contribute to decreases in exploratory behavior. As such, I expected a selfcorrecting, reciprocal relationship between exploration and performance.

Hypothesis 6: There will be a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between performance and exploration such that lagged performance is negatively related to exploratory behavior whereas lagged exploratory behavior is positively related to performance.

Dynamics among behavioral and cognitive/motivational self-regulatory processes

Self-regulation does not operate as an assembly of isolated mechanisms, but rather functions as a collection of highly interrelated processes that build upon and influence one another over the course of practice (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011). As such, examining the manner in which self-regulatory processes are interrelated is necessary for understanding the role of self-regulation in learning contexts. In particular, it is important to clarify how cognitive and motivational self-regulation influences—and is influenced by-behavioral self-regulation given that cognitive and motivational selfregulated learning processes are thought to show their effects through changes in learner behavior (Kozlowski et al., 2001). Such an approach also allows for a direct test of the proposition that exploration has a distal, causal influence on learning outcomes through more proximal cognitive and motivational processes—a common assumption underlying research on exploratory learning (Bell & Kozlowski, 2008). In the following sections, I review available evidence for the proposed relationships between exploratory behavior, self-efficacy, and metacognition and offer predictions regarding the directionality of these effects.

Self-efficacy and exploratory behavior

Curiosity theory postulates that exploratory behavior occurs in response to perceptions of novelty (Berlyne, 1966). As noted above, novelty contributes to exploration by exposing gaps between one's knowledge and the information readily available in the environment. Information-knowledge gaps motivate learners to explore in an effort to increase task mastery and to develop a "feeling of efficacy" in dealing with their surroundings (p. 322; White, 1959). In other words, one of the primary purposes of exploratory behavior is to help reduce uncertainty and anxiety— efforts that should also contribute to the development of self-efficacy. Learners who develop a broad repertoire of experiences will feel more knowledgeable and confident that they can respond appropriately across a wide range of demands. Accordingly, I expected that prior exploratory behavior would have a positive effect on subsequent self-efficacy.

Developing predictions for the effect of self-efficacy on subsequent exploratory behavior is a bit more complex, as simultaneous positive and negative influences of self-efficacy on exploratory behavior can plausibly coexist. For instance, research shows that when provided a choice between two novel situations—one that is the same level of complexity at which one currently feels efficacious and another which is slightly more complex—individuals tend to prefer the one that is more complex (Dember & Earl, 1957; Earl, Franken, & May, 1967; May, 1963). Along these lines, one might expect that self-efficacy should have a positive effect on exploration through its influence on factors that shape decisions to explore. Specifically, self-efficacy should contribute to a willingness to branch out and try new things, which raises the upper limits of novelty and complexity learners feel comfortable engaging. However,

arguments can also be made for a negative influence of self-efficacy on exploration through a reduction in perceived information-knowledge gaps. As informationknowledge gaps begin to shrink, trainees will perceive less novelty, feel that they have less to learn, and avoid committing time and energy toward exploratory behavior. In addition, the same aspect of self-efficacy that allows individuals to persevere (Bandura, 1997) may also make it difficult for them to abandon entrenched approaches and explore—even when viable alternatives exist (Whyte, Saks, & Hook, 1997). Accordingly, the direction of self-efficacy to exploration effects will depend on which forces are stronger in learners in a particular learning environment—the desire to increase novelty and complexity in one's surroundings and grow, or the associated reduction in the perceived information-knowledge gap and strategy entrenchment. In some cases, these influences may offset, concealing the influence of self-efficacy on exploration in a phenomenon known as inconsistent mediation (MacKinnon, Krull, & Lockwood, 2000). Thus, I expected a reciprocal relationship between self-efficacy and exploration such that self-efficacy influences decisions to engage in exploratory behavior, which in turn contributes to the development of higher levels of self-efficacy. However, predictions regarding self-efficacy-to-exploration effects are less certain. Thus, the following hypothesis and research question were examined.

Hypothesis 7: There will be a reciprocal relationship between exploratory behavior and self-efficacy such that lagged exploratory behavior is positively related to self-efficacy and lagged self-efficacy influences exploratory behavior.

Research question 1: What is the direction of the effect of lagged self-efficacy on subsequent exploratory behavior?

Metacognition and Exploratory Behavior

Learners that engage in effective monitoring of goal appropriate behavior reflect on prior outcomes in order to gain a better understanding of what they do and do not know (Zimmerman, 2000). This information can then be used to develop plans and revise behavior in pursuit of one's goals. Thus, metacognition operates initially as a reactive self-regulatory process that allows learners to respond to recent changes in their learning and in the performance environment. Indeed, one of the major functions of metacognition in error management training is ensuring that learners "stop and think about the causes of error" (p. 1968; Ivancic & Hesketh, 2000). However, learners must first collect a sufficiently wide sample of behaviors and experiences on which to reflect before metacognitive activity can occur. For this reason, I expect that exploratory behavior will be positively related to metacognition because exploration generates new information about the task and the various potential approaches available to learners. Learners that are not exploring will have little reason to engage in metacognition given the paucity of new information about the task and their goal progress.

In contrast, I expected that prior metacognition would actively suppress subsequent exploratory behavior. Specifically, reflective and refinement functions of metacognition require learners to transition away from expanding their repertoire and toward an emphasis on exploitative learning strategies such as breaking down the task into its essential components and refining one's current strategic repertoire (Zimmerman, 2000). By emphasizing active processing of currently available information, metacognition allows learners to recognize and address mistakes in prior performance. This can lead to mastery over a single approach or set of approaches

(Keith & Frese, 2005), but does not necessarily facilitate the discovery of new ones. As a result, I expected to find a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between exploration and metacognition such that exploration is positively related to metacognition whereas metacognition is negatively related to exploration. When learning simple tasks, this may be an adaptive tendency as it involves a reallocation of resources away from strategy discovery approaches that quickly become obsolete and toward strategy refinement. However, in complex tasks with many possible solutions, metacognition may inadvertently reduce the upward limits of learner potential by causing learners to settle on a set of suboptimal approaches too early in the learning process.

Hypothesis 8: There will be a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between exploratory behavior and metacognition such that lagged exploratory behavior is positively related to metacognition whereas lagged metacognition is negatively related to exploratory behavior.

Method

Participants

Participants were 312 young adult males attending the University of Oklahoma receiving research credit for a psychology course research participation requirement. Due to computer problems, data from five participants were missing. Two other participants started, but did not complete the study due to worsening weather conditions. In total, complete data from 305 participants was available for analyses. Participants were randomly assigned to either an exploration encouragement condition (n = 154) or control condition (n = 151). Participants ranged in age from 18 to 38 years (M = 19.49, SD = 2.23).

Performance Task

The performance task used in this study was Unreal Tournament 2004 (UT2004; Epic Games, 2004), a commercially available first-person-shooter computer game with many dynamic decision-making characteristics (Kozlowski et al., 2001)—that is, UT2004 contains technology-mediated, shifting, ambiguous, and emergent taskqualities that are important criterion-task features for studies of active learning. In UT2004, participants compete against computer-controlled opponents from the perspective of their character, which they move and manipulate in a fast-paced dynamic setting. Using weapons, the objective is to destroy the computer-controlled opponents while minimizing the destruction of one's own character. Participants start with a basic weapon and can collect new weapons or resources (i.e., pick-ups) to increase their character's health, basic offensive and defensive capabilities, and advanced capabilities (i.e., power-ups). The game environment (i.e., the map) is arranged such that weapons and pick-ups appear in consistent locations. A few special pick-ups are available in locations only accessible by deliberate choice and precise action. When an opponent or the participant's character is destroyed, that character reappears in a new location on the map with the basic weapon and capabilities. A trial (i.e., game) ends when time runs out. A session is composed of four trials.

UT2004 involves a high degree of both psychomotor and cognitive demands. Participants use a mouse and keyboard simultaneously to move and control their character. Participants must learn how each weapon works, consider weapon strengths and weaknesses, and be able to decide quickly which to use given the circumstances. Participants must learn and remember weapon and resource locations and, in some

cases, use problem solving to access those items. To be effective, participants must employ a dynamic approach to their choice of strategy and tactics. For example, depending on the range and location of their opponents, their surroundings, and their character's health, participants need to decide whether to move to find more health resources or other pick-ups, change their weapon choice and combat tactics, or move to find a more advantageous offensive or defensive position.

Procedures

The study protocol is provided in the Appendix. All participants were told that the purpose of the study was to examine how people learn to play a dynamic and complex videogame. After filling out an informed consent, participants responded to questionnaires assessing videogame experience, demographics including self-reported ACT or SAT score, goal orientation, and a battery of other measures not germane to the study's hypotheses or research questions. Following these initial questionnaires, participants watched a 15-min training video explaining the basic controls, rules, and objectives of UT2004 followed by 1 min of in-game practice without opponents present. Participants then performed two trials testing baseline performance for which they were instructed to do their best, followed by an initial self-efficacy questionnaire and a pre-training motivation to learn measure.

Next, participants entered a practice phase in which they performed twenty, 3minute practice trials divided into five performance sessions of four trials each. All participants were instructed to view the practice trials as learning opportunities. In addition, exploration instructions were read aloud at the beginning of the first practice session with refresher instructions read aloud before each of the remaining practice

sessions. Following each of the five practice sessions, participants responded to repeated administrations of self-report questionnaires assessing their metacognitive activity during the previous session and their current levels of self-efficacy. Before each session participants also set proximal goals for the following session and distal goals for end of training. Task enjoyment and post-performance self-efficacy questionnaires were administered immediately after practice. Finally, participants performed four test trials; two testing post-practice performance (i.e., near/analogical transfer) and two testing adaptive performance (i.e., far/adaptive transfer) where they were again instructed to do their best. A 12-item short-form of the Raven's APM (Arthur & Day, 1994; Raven, Raven, & Court, 1998) was administered between the post-practice performance and the adaptive performance trials as a short period of non-use.

UT2004 provides objective levels of computer-controlled opponent difficulty ranging from 1 to 8. At higher levels of difficulty, opponents are faster, more elusive, more accurate, and more varied in their tactics. For the baseline trials, practice trials, and the test of post-practice skill-based performance, participants competed against two computer-controlled opponents that were set to perform at a moderate level (5) of ingame difficulty. All of these trials were performed on the same geographical layout. For the test of adaptive performance, participants performed two trials against nine opponents set at a higher difficulty level (6) and on a larger and more varied geographical layout than before. Following the final adaptive transfer test game, participants were debriefed and dismissed.
Exploration Manipulation

Before the first practice session, participants in the exploration-encouragement condition were read aloud exploration-encouragement instructions, which indicated that exploration is beneficial for learning and recommending that they continuously explore and not settle on a single approach. Participants in the control condition were told that practice is beneficial for learning and were encouraged to continually try their best throughout the practice trials. The manipulation instructions for both conditions are provided in the Appendix. Refresher instructions were read aloud at the beginning of each of the remaining practice sessions. All participants were instructed to view the practice sessions as a learning opportunity.

Measures

Learning outcomes

Scores for baseline performance, proximal performance, analogical transfer performance, and adaptive transfer performance were calculated using an identical function of multiple in-game statistics. Specifically, scores for these variables were computed by dividing trainee kills (i.e., number of times a participant destroyed an opponent) by the quantity of kills plus deaths (i.e., number of times a participant's own character was destroyed) plus trainee rank (i.e., if the trainee's score finished them in first, second, or third place relative to the computer opponents in that trial). To aid in interpretability, performance scores were then multiplied by 100. Thus, scores could range from 0 (low) to approximately 100 (high). Task enjoyment was measured using a 6-item self-report scale (1 = strongly disagree; 5 = strongly agree) developed for this study (e.g., "I had fun learning UT2004" and "If I could, I would play UT2004 at

home"). Task knowledge was measured using a 20-item multiple-choice test reflecting a combination of basic, procedural, and strategic knowledge.

Self-efficacy

Self-efficacy was measured before each practice session and again following the final practice session using a 12-item task-specific scale adapted from previous studies (e.g., Bell & Kozlowski, 2002; Day et al., 2007; Nease, Mudgett, & Quiñones, 1999) for UT2004. Items from this scale include "I feel confident in my ability to perform well in Unreal Tournament," "I know that I can master Unreal Tournament," and "I am confident that Unreal Tournament will seem less challenging to me when I have completed this study." Responses were made on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 *(strongly agree)* to 5 *(strongly disagree)*. Coefficient alphas for each of the six administrations of the state-self efficacy scale of .92, .93, .94, .94, .95, and .95 respectively were obtained in the present study.

Metacognition

Metacognition was measured following each practice session using 16 taskspecific items adapted from the scale developed by Ford et al. (1998). Specific, items were written to measure the extent to which participants (a) monitored and reviewed their progress and performance (e.g., "I paid close attention to when different weapons and fire modes were more effective" and (b) planned to revise their behavior accordingly (e.g., "I thought carefully about what I should do when I did not have certain weapons"). Responses were made using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Coefficient alphas for each of the five administrations of the metacognition scale of .88, .91, .91, .93, and .94 respectively were obtained in the present study.

Exploratory behavior

Exploratory behavior was coded in each practice trial from video playbacks by me and three to five undergraduate coders experienced with common video-game environments and strategies. Coders underwent approximately 20 hours of frame-ofreference training in which they were familiarized with the UT2004 training environment and the exploration scales. Coders independently viewed game videos for each participant and rated exploratory behavior using four 5-point scales. Video files were stored in a way such that accesses to the videos ensured the coders are blind to the experimental condition as well as information regarding all predictor and criterion variables. Intraclass correlations coefficients (ICCs) were used to examine interrater reliability (Shrout & Fleiss, 1979). As recommended by Cicchetti (1994), ICC's between .60 and .74 are considered good interrater reliability and ICC's above .75 are considered excellent interrater reliability.

The exploration scales were developed via a content analysis of UT2004 in relation to how exploration has been conceptualized in the extant literature on emphasis change exploration (Erev & Gopher, 1999; Gopher, Weil, & Siegel, 1989; Yechiam, Erev, & Gopher, 2001), child exploration (Hutt, 1966; Jennings, Harmon, Morgan, Gaiter, & Yarrow, 1979), animal exploration (Dashiell, 1925; Nissen, 1930), and active learning (Dormann & Frese, 1994). Because exploratory behavior is defined in reference to specific task stimuli, developing scales of exploration in the context of the specific task domain is important for understanding how exploration operates in a

practical learning context (Loewenstein, 1994). Therefore, three of the scales in the current effort measured exploratory behavior in three major game domains: (a) combat strategies, (b) weapons, and (c) map. The fourth scale measured overall exploratory behavior. Exploratory behavior was defined as an active interaction on the part of the trainee with the training environment through the trainee's attempts at multiple solutions to the problem at hand (Dormann & Frese, 1994). The variety of combat strategies scale (ICC = .80) ranges from 1 (very few strategies tried) to 5 (a great deal of strategies tried). The variety of weapons used scale (ICC = .88) ranges from 1 (very few weapons tried) to 5 (a great deal of weapons tried). The amount of map visited scale (ICC = .92) ranges from 1 (very little map visited) to 5 (entire map visited). The overall exploratory behavior scale (ICC = .81) provides a rating of exploration similar to that used in previous research on active learning (i.e., Dormann & Frese, 1994) and accounts for exploratory behavior not captured by the other scales. For this scale, coders are instructed to rate exploratory behavior in the context of participant behavior up until the trial being coded. In this way, the overall exploration scale captures exploration in the context of the other trials. This scale ranges from 1 (very little exploratory behavior) to 5 (a great deal of exploratory behavior). Correlations among the exploration scale scores ranged from .21 to .76. Together these scales combined to capture both the overall amount (i.e., the total variety of solutions explored during each trial) and uniqueness (i.e., the frequency of brand-new approaches explored during each trial) of participant exploration during practice. A confirmatory factor analysis indicated the four scales loaded on a single factor (CFI = .97, RMSEA = .067). Therefore, the four scale scores were averaged for each trial to create an overall trial-level exploration

index. Hardy et al. (2014) provided support for the content-related validity and construct-related validity (i.e., the sensitivity of scale scores to manipulated changes in exploration) for this operationalization of exploratory behavior.

Controls

A composite of self-reported ACT/SAT scores and scores from the 12-item short form of the Raven Advanced Progressive Matrices (Arthur & Day, 1994) was used as an index of GMA. Following recommendations outlined by Wang and Stanley (1970), a composite reliability of .87 was calculated for this index of GMA. A composite index of videogame experience and baseline performance was used for the measure of pre-training task-related knowledge. A 4-item scale was used to measure trainee videogame experience. Videogame experience served as a proxy for pre-training videogame knowledge. For the first two items, participants responded using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 5 (daily) to the following questions: (a) "Over the last 12 months, how frequently have you typically played video/computer games?" (M = 3.50, SD = 1.18) and (b) "Over the last 12 months, how frequently have you typically played first-person shooter video/computer games (e.g., Call of Duty, Half-Life, Halo, Unreal Tournament)?" (M = 2.82, SD = 1.22). For the second two items, participants indicated how many hours per week they typically play video/computer games (M = 6.23, SD = 8.87, min. = 0.00, max. = 60.00) and how many hours per week they typically play first-person shooter video/computer games (M = 3.39, SD = 6.80, min. = 0.00, max. = 60.00). Scores for these four items were standardized and then averaged into a single videogame experience score. Scores for the two baseline performance trials were averaged (M = 20.75, SD = 11.57) and then standardized.

Finally, the standardized index of videogame experience and the standardized index of baseline performance was averaged to yield a composite index of overall pre-training task-related knowledge. A composite reliability of .82 was calculated for this index of pre-training task-related knowledge. Learning goal orientation (LGO), proveperformance goal orientation (PPGO), and avoid-performance goal orientation (APGO) were measured with a 13-item scale adapted from VandeWalle (1997). Original references to one's job and work were removed for the present study and the scale was adapted to reflect a general trait-based goal-orientation. Responses were made using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Coefficient alphas of .83, .75, and .83 were obtained in the present study for LGO, PPGO, APGO, respectively. Pre-training motivation to learn was measured using a 2-item, five-point Likert scale composed of the following two items: "I will devote my full attention to learning Unreal Tournament during this study" (M = 4.21, SD = .71) and "I will do my best to learn Unreal Tournament during this study" (M = 4.29, SD = .65). A coefficient alpha of .88 was obtained in the present study for the motivation to learn scale.

Results

Measurement Invariance

I started by testing two forms of measurement equivalence (i.e., configural and metric invariance) across each measurement occasion for the self-efficacy, metacognition, and exploratory behavior scales respectively. Configural invariance (Horn & McArdle, 1992) refers to the assumption that the overall number of factors in the factor structure is invariant across measurement occasions. Metric invariance refers to the assumption that factor loadings are invariant across measurement occasions. Changes in the RMSEA for each scale were all less than the suggested cutoff value of Δ RMSEA < .015 (F. F. Chen, 2007). Thus, constraining same-item factor loadings to be equal across measurement occasions was not found to significantly reduce model fitness for each scale. These findings provide evidence of sufficient configural and metric measurement invariance for each of the repeated measure variables.

Longitudinal Trends and the Influence of Individual Differences

Table 1 shows descriptive statistics and between- and within-person correlations among all study variables. I examined triactories of performance, self-efficacy, metacognition, and exploratory behavior using a series of univariate latent growth models specified in MPlus version 6 (Muthén & Muthén, 2010). Latent growth modeling is a statistical procedure for modeling longitudinal trends using latent factors (Bollen & Curran, 2006). Specifically, two univariate models were fitted for each repeated variable; one containing only a latent intercept and the other containing both a latent intercept and latent slope centered on the first measurement occasion.¹ Relative fit of these two univariate models were used to determine if the inclusion of a latent slope could explain variance in each repeated variable beyond the inclusion of a latent intercept alone (Curran & Bollen, 2001). The best-fitting latent growth model for each repeated variable was retained for subsequent modeling. Individual differences relevant to learning contexts, specifically GMA, pre-training task-related knowledge, goal orientation, and pre-training motivation to learn were included as controls on the starting values (i.e., the latent intercept) and growth trends (i.e., the latent linear slope) in the final models.

¹ Centering the latent slope in such a manner allows for meaningful interpretations of correlations between intercept and growth terms when similar starting points are available for all subjects (McArdle, 2009).

As depicted in Figure 1, all four repeated variables showed meaningful trends over the course of practice. Thus, the inclusion of a latent slope improved model fit for performance, exploration, self-efficacy, and metacognition respectively relative to the intercept only model (all $\Delta \chi^2(3) > 11.35$, *ps* < .01). Specifically, positive trends were observed for performance ($\gamma_{10} = 28.82$, *SE* = 1.41, *t* = 8.88, *p* < .01), self-efficacy ($\gamma_{10} =$.03, *SE* = .01, *t* = 2.92, *p* < .01), and metacognition ($\gamma_{10} = .06$, *SE* = .01, *t* = 5.85, *p* < .01) whereas exploratory behavior decreased over the course of practice ($\gamma_{10} = -.11$, *SE* = .01, *t* = -14.95, *p* < .01).

Table 2 displays the final results of the univariate latent growth models, including the influence of the individual difference control variables on the starting values and growth trends of performance, self-efficacy, metacognition, and exploration respectively. Although the effects of individual differences on latent intercepts and slopes of the repeated variables were not central to my research questions, several interesting patterns emerged that may inform future research. For instance, pre-training task-related knowledge positively predicted initial levels of all four repeated variables. However, although both pre-training task related knowledge ($\gamma_{02} = .74, p < .01$) and GMA ($\gamma_{01} = .10, p < .05$) were positively related to initial performance, only GMA predicted growth in performance across practice ($\gamma_{11} = .28, p < .01$). Another interesting finding was that learning goal orientation positively predicted initial levels of selfefficacy ($\gamma_{03} = .28, p < .05$), but negatively predicted growth in self-efficacy over the course of practice ($\gamma_{13} = -.20$, p < .05). For metacognition, the findings showed that higher initial levels of metacognition were typical of learners higher in pre-training task-related knowledge ($\gamma_{02} = .26, p < .05$), learning goal orientation ($\gamma_{03} = .16, p < .05$), performance-prove goal orientation ($\gamma_{04} = .16, p < .01$), and pre-training motivation to learn ($\gamma_{06} = .22, p < .01$). In contrast, higher GMA learners engaged in less metacognition early in practice ($\gamma_{01} = -.13, p < .05$), but increased their metacognitive activity at a faster rate over the course of practice relative to lower GMA learners ($\gamma_{11} =$.16, p < .05). Finally, although goal orientations did not influence initial levels of exploratory behavior, individuals higher in learning goal orientation were more likely to continue exploring throughout practice ($\gamma_{13} = .19, p < .05$).

Incremental Predictive Validity of Exploratory Behavior

A series of hierarchical multiple regressions were used to test the incremental predictive validity of behavioral self-regulation on learning outcomes beyond the influence of established cognitive and motivational self-regulatory processes. Specifically, Hypothesis 1 predicted that exploratory behavior would incrementally predict learning outcomes above the influence of self-efficacy and metacognition. As shown in Table 3, Hypothesis 1 was supported. Exploratory behavior predicted variance beyond the influence of self-efficacy and metacognition across all the learning outcomes including practice performance ($\Delta R^2 = .09, p < .01$), task knowledge ($\Delta R^2 = .04, p < .01$), analogical transfer performance ($\Delta R^2 = .04, p < .01$), adaptive transfer performance ($\Delta R^2 = .03, p < .01$).

The Effect of Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior and Learning

Outcomes

Hierarchical multiple regression was also used to examine the influence of exploration-encouragement instructions on trainee exploratory behavior. GMA, pretraining task-related knowledge, goal orientation, and pre-training motivation to learn were entered in the model in step one. A dummy code representing the main effect of the exploration-encouragement instructions manipulation (control = 0, explorationencouragement = 1) was entered in step two. Interactions between the dummy-coded exploration-encouragement instructions and both trainee GMA and pre-training taskrelated knowledge (centered) were entered in step three.

Hypothesis 2 predicted that trainees in the exploration-encouragement instructions condition would explore more relative to trainees in the control condition. Hypothesis 3 predicted that the influence of exploration-encouragement instructions on exploratory behavior would be contingent on learner GMA (H3a) and pre-training taskrelated knowledge (H3b). As shown in Table 4, neither Hypothesis 2 nor Hypothesis 3 was supported. The exploration-encouragement instructions did not significantly influence learner exploratory behavior (B = .054, SE = .040, t = 1.35, p > .05) and the effects of exploration-encouragement instructions was not stronger for trainees higher on either GMA (B = .060, SE = .048, t = 1.26, p > .05) or pre-training task-related knowledge (B = .062, SE = .050, t = 1.24, p > .05).

Dynamics of Self-regulation and Performance

To test hypotheses regarding directionality in the relationships between selfregulatory processes and performance (H4-H6), I fit a series of bivariate, cross-lagged latent growth models (Curran & Bollen, 2001). As the name suggests, bivariate crosslagged latent growth modeling allows for analysis of dynamic relationships between two variables by combining the advantages of cross-lagged regression, which focuses on teasing apart issues of directionality, and latent growth modeling, which focuses on covariation between each repeated variable's latent intercepts and growth terms and addresses potential confounding influences of slope covariation that can lead to misinterpretation of performance-self-regulation relationships (Sitzmann & Yeo, 2013). Similar approaches have recently been used to examine relationships between proactive personality and work attributes (Li et al., 2014), and job burnout and depression (Toker & Biron, 2012). In many ways, the goals of bivariate cross-lagged latent growth modeling are similar to those of hierarchical linear modeling (e.g., Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002) in that both approaches seek to disaggregate relationships at between- and withinperson levels (Curran & Bauer, 2011).

After establishing measurement invariance and fitting univariate latent growth models for each repeated variable, cross-lagged effects were examined by combining the best-fitting univariate growth models with lagged parameters representing the lagged effect of each repeated variable upon the other. Four alternative models representing the four possible bivariate cross-lagged relationships between selfregulatory processes and performance (i.e., the independence model, the performanceto-process unidirectional model, the process-to-performance unidirectional model, and the bidirectional reciprocal model) were then compared based on overall model fit and parsimony. In the case of the metacognition-performance relationship, and the exploration-performance relationship, both repeated variables were measured concurrently. Therefore, cross-lagged effects were specified in these models in line with the approach shown in Figure 2a. For the self-efficacy-performance relationship, selfefficacy was measured before, after, and between each practice session, consistent with the model specification approach shown in Figure 2b. This staggered approach allowed me to avoid overlap dependencies between self-efficacy and performance, a design

advantage shown in Monte Carlo simulations to all but eliminate statistical biases in the self-efficacy-performance relationship (Vancouver et al., 2007) that have been offered as an explanation for the findings that have shown negative effects of self-efficacy on performance (Bandura, 2012; Bandura & Locke, 2003).

In all models, paths representing the lagged effect of performance on the selfregulatory process ($P \rightarrow SR$) for each adjacent time point (e.g., P1-SR2, P2-SR3, etc.) were constrained to be equal and paths representing the lagged effect of the selfregulatory process on performance (SR \rightarrow P) for each adjacent time point (e.g., SR1-P2, SR2-P3, etc.) were constrained to be equal.² In the independence model, lagged parameters in both directions were constrained to zero. In the performance-to-process unidirectional model, only the lagged effect of performance on the self-regulatory process ($P \rightarrow SR$) was freely estimated. In the process-to-performance unidirectional model, only the lagged effect of the self-regulatory process on performance (SR \rightarrow P) was freely estimated. In the bidirectional model, both the lagged effects of performance on the self-regulatory process ($P \rightarrow SR$) and the process on performance ($SR \rightarrow P$) were freely estimated.³ Models were compared based on overall fit and model parsimony using the comparative fit index (CFI > .90), the root-mean-square-error of approximation (RMSEA upper 90% CI < .10), and the Akaike information criterion (AIC lowest value across models). Coefficients from the best fitting model were used to evaluate the study hypotheses.

 $^{^{2}}$ For the sake of completeness, I tested one final model for each relationship removing these constraints, but in none of the analyses did removing these constraints improve model fit.

³ In the case that acceptable model fit was not found for any of the four models, I planned to test one final model in which autoregressive paths and concurrent correlations were added. However, this final step was not ultimately required in any my analyses.

Table 5 reports fit statistics, cross-lagged coefficients, and inter-factor (i.e., between-person) relationships between self-efficacy and performance, metacognition and performance, and exploratory behavior and performance respectively as reported by four models representing the four possible bivariate cross-lagged relationships between self-regulatory processes and performance: the independence model, the performance-to-process unidirectional model, the process-to-performance unidirectional model, and the bidirectional reciprocal model.

Self-efficacy and performance

Hypothesis 4 predicted a unidirectional, positive relationship between self-efficacy and performance such that lagged performance is positively related to subsequent self-efficacy. Providing support for Hypothesis 4, results in Table 5 show that lagged performance was positively related to self-efficacy ($P \rightarrow SE$; B = .007, SE = .001, t = 9.03, p < .01, $\beta = .12$). However, contrary to the predictions of Hypothesis 4, the bidirectional model fit the data better than the proposed performance-to-self-efficacy unidirectional model. Specifically, the results showed a negative lagged effect of self-efficacy on performance ($SE \rightarrow P$; B = -1.65, SE = 0.68, t = -2.40, p < .01, $\beta = -.10$) in addition to the positive relationship between lagged performance and self-efficacy. Collectively, these results provide evidence for a self-correcting, reciprocal self-efficacy-performance relationship. At the factor level, both the starting values (B = 1.48, SE = 0.40, p < .01, t = 3.74, $\beta = .41$) and growth terms (B = .14, SE = .03, p < .01, t = 4.35, $\beta = .67$) in the self-efficacy performance relationship were positively related.

Metacognition and performance

Hypothesis 5 predicted a positive, reciprocal relationship between metacognition and performance such that lagged performance is positively related to metacognition (H5a) and lagged metacognition is positively related to performance (H5b). As shown in Table 5, Hypothesis 5 was supported. Lagged performance was positively related to metacognition (P \rightarrow M; *B* = .003, *SE* = .001, *t* = 4.09, *p* < .01, β = .07). Furthermore, lagged metacognition was positively related to performance (M \rightarrow P; *B* = .374, *SE* = .171, *t* = 2.18, *p* < .05, β = .02). Together, these findings provide evidence for a positive, reciprocal relationship between metacognition and performance. At the factor level, both the starting values (*B* = 0.87, *SE* = 0.26, *t* = 3.34, *p* < .01, β = .32) and growth terms (*B* = .09, *SE* = .03, *t* = 2.90, *p* < .01, β = .42) in the metacognition-performance relationship were positively related.

Exploratory behavior and performance

Hypothesis 6 predicted a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between exploration and performance such that lagged performance is negatively related to exploratory behavior (H6a) whereas lagged exploratory behavior is positively related to performance (H6b). As shown in Table 5, Hypothesis 6 was supported. Lagged performance was negatively related to exploratory behavior (P \rightarrow E; *B* = -.002, *SE* = .001, *t* = -2.70, *p* < .01, β = -.05). Lagged exploration, on other the hand, was positively related to performance (E \rightarrow P; *B* = .489, *t* = 2.55, *SE* = .192, *p* < .01, β = .02). Collectively, these findings provide evidence for a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between exploratory behavior and performance. At the factor level, both the starting values (*B* = 0.76, *SE* = 0.17, *t* = 4.58, *p* < .01, β = .44) and growth terms (*B* = .04, SE = .02, t = 2.06, p < .05, $\beta = .32$) in the exploration-performance relationship were positively related.

Dynamics among Behavioral and Cognitive/Motivational Self-regulatory Processes

Bivariate, cross-lagged latent growth models were also used to test hypotheses regarding directionality in the relationships between behavioral and cognitive/motivational self-regulatory processes (H7, RQ1, and H8). In the case of the metacognition-exploration relationship both repeated variables were measured concurrently. Thus, cross-lagged effects were specified in these models according to the pattern shown in Figure 2a. For the self-efficacy-exploration relationship, self-efficacy was measured before, after, and between each practice session, consistent with the specification pattern shown in Figure 2b. Table 6 reports fit statistics, cross-lagged coefficients, and inter-factor relationships between exploration and selfefficacy/metacognition respectively.

Exploratory behavior and self-efficacy

Hypothesis 7 predicted a reciprocal relationship between exploratory behavior and selfefficacy such that lagged exploratory behavior is positively related to self-efficacy (H7). Although a significant effect of lagged self-efficacy on exploratory behavior was also expected, no specific predictions regarding the nature of that effect were made (RQ1). As shown in Table 6, Hypothesis 7 was supported. The best fitting model was the reciprocal model such that lagged exploratory behavior was positively related to selfefficacy (E \rightarrow SE; *B* = .046, *SE* = .008, *t* = 5.45, *p* < .01, β = .03). Lagged self-efficacy, on the hand, showed a small, negative relationship with exploratory behavior (SE \rightarrow E; *B* = -.038, *SE* = .022, *t* = -1.65, *p* < .10, β = -.07). At the factor level, both the starting

values (B = 0.04, SE = 0.01, t = 2.71, p < .01, $\beta = .25$) and growth terms (B = .002, SE = .001, t = 1.98, p < .05, $\beta = .18$) in the self-efficacy-performance relationship were positively related. Together, these results provide support for a self-correcting, reciprocal exploration-self-efficacy relationship.

Exploratory behavior and metacognition

Hypothesis 8 predicted a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between exploratory behavior and metacognition such that lagged exploratory behavior is positively related to subsequent metacognition (H8a) whereas lagged metacognition is negatively related to exploratory behavior (H8b). As shown in Table 6, Hypothesis 8 was supported. Lagged exploratory behavior was positively related to metacognition $(E \rightarrow M; B = .033, SE = .008, t = 3.92, p < .01, \beta = .02)$. Lagged metacognition, on the other hand, was negatively related to exploratory behavior $(M \rightarrow E; B = -.012, t =$ $-2.25, SE = .006, p < .05, \beta = -.02)$. Together, these findings provide support for a selfcorrecting, reciprocal relationship between exploration and metacognition. There were no statistically significant relationships in the metacognition-exploration relationship at the factor level.

Discussion

Self-regulation frameworks underlie many modern training theories that target learner adaptability, including active learning (Bell & Kozlowski, 2008, 2010)—a learner-centric instructional approach developed to meet the need for training design that can match the dynamism of the modern workplace (Hesketh, 1997). In the coming years, the importance of self-regulation in organizational training and development will continue to grow as the nature of work evolves to become more complex and knowledge-based (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011). Although researchers have made a great deal of progress in recent years within the self-regulated learning literature, many gaps remain in our understanding of how adults regulate their learning. In particular, I argue that much of the research on self-regulated learning (a) overlooks the central role of behavioral self-regulation in the learning process and (b) fails to fully account for important dynamics in the relationships among self-regulatory processes. The present study was designed to address these limitations with an eye for how developing a better understanding of the role of exploratory behavior in the learning process and of dynamics in self-regulated learning processes can inform active learning theory and the design of training interventions. In the following sections, I start by discussing the results of the present study, organizing my discussion around each of my four original research goals and their implications for theory, research, and practice. I finish by integrating my findings in a dynamic process model of self-regulated learning that speaks to how behavioral, cognitive, and motivational self-regulation can contribute to, and occasionally conspire against, skill-based learning and acquisition.

The Incremental Predictive Validity of Exploratory Behavior in Active Learning

The results of the current study suggest that the benefits of learner behavioral self-regulation go beyond its influence on cognitive and motivational self-regulatory processes. Specifically, exploratory behavior positively predicted all proximal and distal learning outcomes examined in the present study beyond the effects of self-efficacy and metacognition. By helping learners resolve sources of novelty and uncertainty within the task environment, exploration facilitates the development of a deeper understanding of the rules, principles, and strategies underlying effective performance (Smith, Ford, &

Kozlowski, 1997) and contributes to the development of a broader repertoire of experiences upon which learners can draw in response to changing task demands (Dormann & Frese, 1994).

These results support the tenets of constructivist conceptualizations of learning (Bruner, 1961) that underlie active-learning approaches. However, they challenge the common practice in research on active learning of operationalizing exploration solely as a core design element or as a distal predictor of learning outcomes exclusively through its influence on other self-regulatory processes. This is not to say that exploration is unrelated to cognitive and motivational self-regulation. Indeed, my results also indicated that exploration influenced, and was influenced by, both self-efficacy and metacognition. Rather, I argue that future theory and research on active learning should operationalize exploration as a distinct self-regulatory process. Given its central—and notably unique—role in the learning process, a focus on behavioral self-regulation has a great deal of potential for advancing our understanding of the nature of adult learning.

Along these lines, I believe that instructors will be better able to address shortcomings in existing training interventions and will be more effective in positively influencing the learning process simply by paying more attention to learner behavior. In many cases, it may not always be enough to assume that learners are taking advantage of opportunities to explore (Hardy et al., 2014). Thus, when possible, learner behavior should be actively monitored and interventions should be designed with effects on trainee exploratory behavior in mind. This approach is not new in the science education

literature, where researchers implementing interventions that leverage principles of curiosity theory were able to stimulate exploratory behavior and improve learning outcomes for children visiting science museums (D. Anderson & Lucas, 1997; Kubota & Olstad, 1991). There is unique power in the act of exploration as part of the learning process, because exploring exposes learners to information that not only directly benefits learning outcomes, but also fuels learner cognitive and motivational self-regulatory processes. In many ways, behavioral self-regulation is much more readily accessible to researchers and instructors than cognitive or motivational self-regulation, which can only be indirectly inferred. As such, a renewed emphasis on learner behavior offers a great deal of potential for practitioners interested in identifying new ways to support the learning process.

The Effect of Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior

Organizations are increasingly turning to training efforts to help prepare employees to meet the challenges of future jobs (Salas, Tannenbaum, Kraiger, & Smith-Jentsch, 2012). In the last year alone, spending on corporate training grew by 15% to \$70 billion in the U.S. and \$130 billion worldwide (O' Leonard, 2014). Because training generally represents a sizable investment on the part of the organization, it is important to ensure that training interventions are having a positive influence on the learning process. In the current study, I tested two key propositions: (1) that explorationencouragement instructions positively influence exploratory behavior and (2) that intervention effects on learner exploration may be contingent on learner characteristics. The first proposition is important because a training intervention that influences learning outcomes, but not learner self-regulation, may be affecting the learning process

through unknown mechanisms (Keith & Frese, 2005). Without clarification as to what these hidden influences might be, successful application of the intervention becomes a game of chance wherein the intervention will positively influence learning outcomes when the necessary conditions are present, but show no influence, or even negatively influence learning outcomes when they are not. The second proposition is important for identifying learner characteristics that must be present at the start of training for the intervention to be successful. This proposition speaks to the generalizability of training effects across a wide range of learners and contexts.

Although I expected that exploration-encouragement instructions would positively influence learner exploratory behavior, particularly for trainees higher in GMA and pre-training task-related knowledge, the current results showed that this was not the case. Indeed, my findings suggest that exploration-encouragement instructions had very little influence on the learning process at all. There are a number of possibilities for this finding. First, the exploration instructions used in the present study may have been too weak, or may have lacked a sufficient level of specificity to be of much use to learners. However, highly specific instructions with explicit prescriptions for learner behavior are more characteristic of traditional, proceduralized training and diverge from the instructional philosophy underlying active-learning approaches. Furthermore, prior research in the error management training literature suggests that learners will occasionally ignore instructions and engage in behavior that is most natural to them (Dormann & Frese, 1994). Consequentially, simple exploration-encouragement instructions probably have little to no influence on learner exploration. Supporting this notion, Wendel and Frese (1987) found that the highest levels of exploration were

observed for learners who were not only encouraged, but also required to explore in order to achieve their goals. The primary implication here for training design is that instructors should not expect to take an entirely passive role if they wish to positively influence learner exploration. Instead, instructors must provide reason and incentive to trainees to foster continued exploration. In particular, interventions that directly target the antecedents of exploratory behavior (i.e., learner perceptions of novelty and the information-knowledge gap) rather than the behavior itself may be more effective at shaping and supporting learner exploration. Similarly, aligning the content of training goals with exploration-encouragement instructions may make learners more likely to commit to exploration-based strategies during training (Kozlowski & Bell, 2006).

Dynamics of Self-regulation and Performance

Self-regulation is fundamentally a dynamic phenomenon that operates primarily at the within-person level. As such, research on self-regulation that fails to account for issues pertaining to levels of analysis risks misconstruing the true nature of observed effects (Yeo & Neal, 2013). Indeed, the results of the present study suggest that selfregulation-performance relationships may not be as simple as was previously assumed. Specifically, all three of the self-regulatory processes examined in the present study showed reciprocal relationships with performance such that self-regulation not only influenced, but was also influenced by performance outcomes. Reciprocal selfregulation-performance relationships have major implications for training design several of which I described when introducing this topic above. In the following sections, I discuss how findings in the present study speak to the nature of the selfefficacy-performance, metacognition-performance, and exploration performance relationships respectively. I then consider the implications of each finding for training design.

Self-efficacy and performance.

Of all the self-regulated learning processes examined in the present study, the relationship between self-efficacy and performance has received the greatest amount of empirical attention. In recent years, proponents of social cognitive theory and control theory have been engaged in a vigorous debate regarding issues of directionality and causality in the self-efficacy-performance relationship (Bandura, 2012, 2015; Bandura & Locke, 2003; Vancouver, 2012; Vancouver, Thompson, & Williams, 2001; Yeo & Neal, 2013). The findings of the present study provide additional support for arguments that similarities in the trajectories of self-efficacy and performance over time may inflate between-person estimates of the self-efficacy-performance relationship (Sitzmann & Yeo, 2013). As such, I echo the recommendations of Sitzmann and Yeo (2013) who emphasized the importance of controlling for linear trajectories in repeatedmeasures self-efficacy research. Controlling for these trends in my analyses via the latent growth trajectories revealed that the self-efficacy-performance relationship operated in a self-correcting reciprocal relationship. Specifically, lagged performance positively predicted self-efficacy, whereas lagged self-efficacy negatively predicted performance. These findings challenge claims that negative self-efficacy effects are solely the product of statistical artifacts resulting from overlapping measurement of self-efficacy and performance (Bandura, 2012) and support the notion that a small amount of self-doubt may ultimately benefit learning and performance (Feltz & Wood, 2009).

Nevertheless, it should be noted that an alternative explanation for why I found a negative effect of self-efficacy on performance in the present study rather than the originally proposed unidirectional performance-to-self-efficacy relationship concerns a small degree of achievement ambiguity that may have been present in this particular learning context. Using a computerized anagram task, Schmidt and DeShon (2010) found that ambiguity moderated the effect of self-efficacy on performance such that self-efficacy was negatively related to both effort and performance in high performance ambiguity conditions, but not in conditions characterized by low performance ambiguity. Although participants in present study were provided detailed and accurate performance feedback during and at the end of every trial, they lacked information regarding how well their performance compared to normative standards for success.

Furthermore, a growing body of research indicates that there are several key moderators of self-efficacy-performance relationships such as prior performance (Schmidt & DeShon, 2009), failure experiences (Hardy, 2014), and even one's overall level of self-efficacy (Beck & Schmidt, 2012). As such, I do not wish to make the claim that self-efficacy is universally detrimental to the learning process. In fact, in multiple goal contexts characterized by time and resource constraints, negative self-efficacy effects may suggest that learners are attempting to balance allocation of limited resources across competing demands (Beck & Schmidt, 2015). As such, negative effects of self-efficacy may be indicative of shortcomings in training design rather than low learner motivation. Accordingly, I recommend that instructors spend less time trying to influence learner self-efficacy and more time developing learning environments that minimize biases, both positive and negative, in learner perceptions of their own

capability. Establishing clear expectations, improving the quality of learner goals, and providing detailed, informative feedback with updated goals (Kluger & DeNisi, 1996, 1998) can be instrumental in helping learners avoid pitfalls associated with overconfidence.

Metacognition and performance.

Relative to the amount of attention given to the self-efficacy-performance relationship, considerably less research has empirically examined dynamics in the relationship between metacognition and performance. In fact, based on my review of the literature, only a single study by Sitzmann and Ely (2010) examined the possibility that the relationship may be bidirectional. Even then, metacognition was studied as a part of a broader self-regulation index that also included motivation and concentration. This lack of research on the dynamics of the metacognition-performance relationship is surprising, particularly since metacognition is argued to be a key learning mechanism in many active learning interventions (Bell & Kozlowski, 2008, 2010; Keith & Frese, 2005; Schmidt & Ford, 2003). As such, the current study provides a unique contribution to research on metacognition is positively related to subsequent performance and (b) considers the possibility of feedback effects wherein changes in performance influence subsequent metacognition.

In general, the findings of the present study support claims that metacognition is positively related to performance in active-learning training (Brown & Ford, 2002; Smith et al., 1997). However, my results also revealed a positive feedback effect of prior performance on metacognition. The positive, reciprocal relationship between

metacognition and performance found in the present study is consistent with the notion that metacognition is an exploitation-oriented self-regulatory process that emphasizes reflecting on what worked in prior performance trials and identifying ways to capitalize upon short- term successes (Soderstrom & Bjork, 2015). It should be noted that an approach that emphasizes leveraging prior successes likely has mixed effects in the learning process. For instance, an exploitation focus can help learners identify and resolve the sources of error, which can lead to immediate performance improvements (Ivancic & Hesketh, 2000; Keith & Frese, 2005). However, the current results also suggest that a less desirable side effect of metacognition is that it inhibits exploratory behavior by focusing learner attention primarily on identifying and replicating strategies that had proved effective in the past. As a result, although metacognition is beneficial to immediate performance outcomes, excessive amounts of metacognition may ultimately limit the upward bounds of learner potential-particularly when learning tasks with that require proficiency in a number of varied strategies. Future research should further examine the nuances of this complex relationship, with an emphasis on identifying ways to balance these competing, but not necessarily opposing learning strategies. In the meantime, active learning interventions should seek to balance the need for learners to (a) reflect upon the success and effective performance strategies they identify via metacognition and (b) continue to expand their repertoire and experiment with other potential task solutions.

Exploratory behavior and performance.

The four key findings of the present study regarding dynamics in the exploration-performance relationship—namely, the positive trajectory of performance,

the negative trajectory of exploratory behavior, the positive effect of exploration on subsequent performance, and the negative effect of performance on subsequent exploration—all support the conceptualization of exploration as a systematic, information-gathering, behavioral self-regulatory process (Hardy et al., 2014). As such, the exploration-performance relationship can be best understood by considering how the antecedents of exploration (i.e. perceptions of novelty and information-knowledge gaps) evolve over the course of practice. Early in training, learners perceive high amounts of novelty, leading them to explore in an effort to reduce perceived informationknowledge gaps. As they explore, they learn, elevating subsequent levels of performance. However, performance increases also lead to trainee confidence in their own understanding and mastery over the task environment (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011). As a result, perceived information-knowledge gaps decline as skill aquisition progresses, leading to a similar decline in exploratory behavior. The result is the self-correcting, reciprocal relationship observed in the present study.

Given that exploratory behavior showed a positive, direct effect on performance and learning, the findings of the present study suggest that active learning interventions be designed with a clear understanding of how core training design elements influence learner exploration. In particular, I recommend that instructors carefully consider what novel information is available to trainees in the learning environment and how trainees perceive it. Moderate amounts of novelty invoke the greatest amount of exploratory behavior (Berlyne, 1966). As such, deviations from this middle ground may explain why many active-learning interventions fail. Trainees who feel they have little to learn (i.e., trainees with small information-knowledge gaps) will be unlikely to take advantage of opportunities to explore in active-learning training. Conversely, trainees who lack the experience or ability to perform basic task functions will be overwhelmed by the amount of novelty available in active-learning environments, reducing their engagement in the learning process.

As such, trainers should take care to align the needs of learners with opportunities to engage novelty via exploratory behavior. Part of this alignment process is a recognition of the dynamics of exploration during training. In particular, my findings showed that overall levels of exploratory behavior were lowest late in practice. Continuously introducing small amounts of novelty into the learning environment as training progresses may help prevent learners from prematurely settling on a suboptimal approach and may help prevent them from failing to learn strategies that may be needed in future transfer situations. Adaptive training systems that provide real-time adjustments in the learning environment to meet the changing needs of learners (Shute & Zapata-Rivera, 2008) may be well suited for this purpose. However, adaptive training techniques are relatively new and many key empirical questions and technological limitations critical to their implementation remain (Landsberg et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the potential offered by systematically aligning the presentation of training content with changing learner needs is great. Future research should consider ways that adaptive training or other similar techniques can support exploratory behavior and other learner self-regulatory processes.

Dynamics among Behavioral and Cognitive/Motivational Self-regulatory Processes

Although the findings of the present study support the notion that self-regulated learning processes are inextricably interrelated (Sitzmann & Ely, 2011), they challenge

claims that these relationships necessarily imply construct redundancy. This is not to say that some degree of construct consolidation is not warranted in the self-regulated learning literature. Rather, I argue that an overemphasis on identifying which regulatory processes have the strongest bivariate relationships with learning outcomes may cause researchers to overlook the complexity underlying the interrelationships among these mechanisms. By adopting a process conceptualization of self-regulation and examining directionality of effects at the within-person level of analysis, the present study revealed that both self-efficacy and metacognition showed self-correcting reciprocal relationships with exploration. These dynamics carry important implications for the learning process and for the design of training interventions. In the following sections, I review the findings regarding both the exploration-metacognition and exploration-selfefficacy relationships and their implications for research and practice in active learning.

Self-efficacy and exploratory behavior.

Examining effects primarily at the between-person level might lead one to conclude that self-efficacy and exploration are strongly and positively related. However, this approach risks misrepresenting the true nature of what is, in actuality, a fundamentally within-person relationship (Yeo & Neal, 2013). Specifically, the findings of the present study revealed a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship such that exploration positively influenced subsequent self-efficacy whereas self-efficacy negatively influenced subsequent and self-efficacy-performance relationships, suggesting that the mechanisms underlying these relationships might be similar. For example, the positive effect of exploration on self-efficacy is likely a reflection of the positive

influence of exploration on performance. Trainees who explore become more competent in their dealings with the environment, which helps build feelings of efficacy (White, 1959). Feelings of efficacy resulting from performance gains reduce the information-knowledge gap, causing learners to feel that further exploration is no longer necessary. These findings suggest that changes in self-efficacy likely underlie the negative performance-to-exploration relationship.

As such, I again reiterate my earlier claim that interventions that emphasize targeting learner self-efficacy may be misguided. Rather than devoting time, energy, and resources toward elevating learner self-efficacy, instructors should seek to prevent learners from underestimating the true nature of their information-knowledge gaps and to help them identify and feel comfortable engaging novelty in the task environment. Nevertheless, similar to the self-efficacy-performance relationship, I expect that there are several boundary conditions and moderators of self-efficacy-to-exploration effects. For example, when developing predictions for the self-efficacy-to-exploration effects, I argued that trainees higher in self-efficacy would feel more comfortable embracing and exploring sources of complexity in the learning environment. This would be particularly important in high stakes situations where the costs of failure are high, and may counteract, or even reverse, the negative efficacy-to-exploration relationships found in the present study. Furthermore, research and theory supports the notion that selfefficacy is positively related to goal acceptance (Bandura, 1997; Vancouver et al., 2008). Thus, another situation where self-efficacy might positively predict subsequent exploratory behavior is in contexts where learners are generally hesitant to accept goals. Because exploration is a type of goal-directed behavior, I expect that a minimum

threshold of self-efficacy must be met before learners will commit energy and resources toward exploring. However, future research is needed to test these propositions and to identify other possible moderators of exploration-self-efficacy relationships.

Metacognition and exploratory behavior

Similar to the self-efficacy-exploration relationship, the findings of the present study suggested a self-correcting, reciprocal relationship between metacognition and exploration. However, contrary to the findings for self-efficacy, both metacognition and exploration were positively related to subsequent performance. Together, these findings support the notion that exploration and metacognition are two important pieces of the learning process. Exploration allows learners to engage novelty and complexity in the environment, gain a deeper understanding of the task, and develop a broader strategic repertoire whereas metacognition helps learners reflect on, refine, and improve upon available approaches to task performance. Moreover, exploration supports metacognitive functioning by exposing learners to a broader range of task information upon which they can reflect and plan for future performance. However, a unique finding in this study was the negative feedback effect of metacognition on exploration. This pattern is consistent with the conceptualization of metacognition as an exploitative, performance-oriented rather than exploratory, learning-oriented approach. As such, although metacognition contributes to learning by improving immediate task performance, it may limit learner potential by narrowing their focus on a suboptimal range of strategies too early in practice.

These findings carry several important implications for research and practice on self-regulated learning. At a conceptual level, they suggest that the relationship between

self-regulated learning processes and performance may be more complex than originally thought. Although metacognition can benefit the learning process, it may ultimately limit learner potential by suppressing learner exploratory behavior. These findings also highlight the importance of studying self-regulated learning where it occurs—at the within person level. A "horse race" approach where incremental predictive validities are the primary goal may not be appropriate when studying the learning process. Research designed to unravel the nuances of complex relationships like these at the appropriate level of analysis is lacking and is much needed. In particular, tracking changes in learner self-regulation along with potential mechanisms underlying their interrelationships throughout training can aid in the design of more effective and reliable active-learning interventions. For example, the self-correcting reciprocal relationships found in the present study among self-regulated learning processes suggest that there is potential in developing instructional environments that help learners better balance their conflicting tendencies. Such a training paradigm would work to make instructors and learners alike more cognizant of their learning process and to be more sensitive to the positive and negative consequences of learner thoughts and behaviors.

Toward a Dynamic Process Model of Self-regulated Learning

Collectively, the findings of the present study suggest that self-regulation in learning contexts is best understood as a collection of closely interrelated processes that increase and decrease over the course of practice in response to changes in performance. To help make sense of what the findings of the present study suggest regarding how self-regulation unfolds over the course of practice, I organize them here into a dynamic process model of self-regulated learning shown in Figure 3. I do not intend for this model to serve as a formal theory of self-regulated learning. Rather, I intend to use it as an organizing heuristic for understanding and applying the findings of the present study. Nevertheless, the model shown in Figure 3 bears several notable similarities to existing theories of self-regulation. First, I conceptualize self-regulation as a phase-based phenomenon that unfolds throughout the learning process , an approach similar to that taken by Pintrich (2000). Moreover, consistent with Zimmerman's (2000) socialcognitive model of self-regulation, this framework allows for iterative feedback loops in recognition of learning as a dynamic phenomenon that is constantly changing.

One aspect of my model that differs from many other theories of self-regulated learning is that behavior is conceptualized as an early rather than late step in the learning cycle. This is not to say that exploration always precedes cognitive or motivational self-regulation. Indeed, the iterative nature of the learning cycle makes it difficult to clearly distinguish what is the "first step." Nevertheless, I begin with exploration in my model to emphasize the importance of exploration as a facilitator of cognitive and motivational self-regulation. This characteristic of the model reflects my findings, which showed that exploration alone was positively related to metacognition, self-efficacy, and performance outcomes. Exploratory behavior directly benefits performance and learning outcomes by allowing learners to develop a broader repertoire of strategies and approaches that they can use in response to a wide range of task demands. Moreover, learners who explore develop experiences and are exposed to information that enables them to engage in effective performance and learning-oriented cognition. However, an interesting aspect of both the present findings and of the model shown in Figure 3 is that although exploration and metacognition both positively

influenced performance outcomes, metacognition also had a negative influence on subsequent exploration. This pattern of findings implies that the learning process is comprised of parallel, and occasionally competing, internal processes focused around (a) performance/exploitation cycles—that is, a pattern of behavior centered around exploiting one's knowledge and experiences and acquiring immediate performance gains—and (b) learning/exploration cycles—that is, a pattern of behavior focused on distal performance gains resulting from exploring unresolved sources of novelty and complexity in the task. Future research should explicitly examine the interplay between the performance/exploitation cycle and the learning/exploration cycle and the implications of these relationships for learning, retention, and transfer outcomes.

Another notable aspect of the model is the inclusion of self-efficacy as a consequence of performance outcomes rather than as a predictor. This represents a marked departure from the traditional conventional wisdom based on a long history of between-person research (e.g., Colquitt et al., 2000) that suggested that self-efficacy was a primary antecedent of motivation in learning contexts. Although a hearty debate on the functional properties of self-efficacy in the learning cycle remains active (Bandura, 2015), this study contributes to a growing body of evidence that suggests that interventions targeting learner self-efficacy may not show benefits in performance where they matter most—the within-person level. Moreover, my model reflects the findings of the present study that suggest that self-efficacy may even be limiting learner potential by diverting resources away from constructive learning processes such as exploratory behavior.

Although the model provided here is by no means comprehensive, future research on self-regulated and active learning can benefit greatly from adopting a dynamic, within-person, process-based conceptualization of learning. It is my hope that the findings of the present study and the process model provided here inspire future researchers to adopt similar approaches to the study of self-regulation in the learning process. This area is in desperate need of more research and theory that accounts for dynamics in the learning process. Only by studying the phenomena at the level at which it occurs can we hope to make future advances in this area.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

Several limitations of the present study should be noted when interpreting and applying these results. First, the videogame task used in the present study differed from tasks typically found in more traditional training programs and the training environment lacked real-world consequences for trainees based on training outcomes. Thus, appropriate caution should be exercised when generalizing the current findings across training contexts. That being said, characteristics of the task and the sample used in this study reflect aspects typical of active-learning training approaches. For example, UT2004 possesses a combination of cognitive and psychomotor demands and a computer-based interface typical of technology-based training such as synthetic learning environments (SLE; Cannon-Bowers & Bowers, 2010), which is seeing increased usage in organizational training and development (American Society for Training and Development, 2010). Thus, the processes examined in this study can be expected to generalize to other active-learning training contexts. Another strength of this task is that many of my participants had prior experience with videogames—a

condition that is common in many real-world training contexts, but is rare in lab-based training and development research. Because of this, I was able to examine variability in pre-training task-related knowledge as a predictor of learning processes and outcomes. Nevertheless, additional research is needed to examine if the current findings generalize to other types of tasks and across a broader array of training delivery approaches and populations.

Second, although self-efficacy, metacognition, and exploratory behavior collectively encompass a broad range of established self-regulated learning mechanisms, the current research was necessarily limited in its coverage of other regulatory processes such as emotion control and time management. As such, the model shown in Figure 3 may ultimately be incomplete, as it does not take into account how affect, emotion, and time pressure play a role in the learning process. Accordingly, future research should expand the present effort to examine dynamics in less commonly examined regulatory processes.

Finally, the present study is unique in the extent to which dynamic interrelationships among multiple self-regulated learning constructs over the course of practice were examined. However, because I did not directly measure the theoretical mediators underlying these relationships (e.g., perceptions of novelty, informationknowledge gaps, resource allocation, and effort), I could only speculate as to the exact functioning of these theoretical sub-mechanisms. Although such a fine grained approach was beyond the scope of the present study, future research that empirically examines these and other sub-processes as mediators of the dynamic interrelationships among self-regulatory processes and learning outcomes can provide important insights

into how the learning process unfolds. To provide structure to such investigations, it may be helpful to point out that many of the explanations offered in the present study are consistent with control theory frameworks (Carver & Scheier, 1982, 2001; Powers, 1973). Specifically, the majority of my predictions as well as my findings imply discrepancy-reducing feedback loops that operate through cybernetic structures containing input, comparator, and output functions (Vancouver, 2005). As such, computational modeling approaches (e.g., Vancouver, Weinhardt, & Schmidt, 2010) may be particularly useful for representing the complex interrelationships among self-regulatory processes and their sub-mechanisms. Computational theories can be used to develop specific and falsifiable predictions for how self-regulated learning changes over time (Vancouver, Weinhardt, et al., 2014). Indeed, a paradigm shift toward computational theories that account for dynamics in relationships across levels of analysis may be critical for making further progress toward our understanding of human learning (J. R. Anderson et al., 2004).

One benefit of developing a better understanding of the learning process is that these principles can be leveraged to improve training design and to positively influence learning outcomes for trainees in active-learning contexts. As such, in tandem with expanding, testing, and refining dynamic theories of self-regulated learning, researchers should also seek to develop training interventions that identify and resolve shortcomings in the learning process. For example, allowing learners to track their own self-regulated learning processes over the course of practice in real time may help them more effectively regulate their cognitions and behaviors and allow them to avoid
common pitfalls identified in the literature, such as overconfidence (Soderstrom & Bjork, 2015) or settling too early on a suboptimal approach (Yechiam et al., 2001).

Moreover, future research should examine how interrelationships among selfregulated learning processes and performance change as a function of the learning environment. For example, a sudden influx of novelty resulting from a fundamental shift in the task rules, principles, or structure, may alter the trajectory of learner exploration, self-efficacy, and metacognition and reshape the nature of the selfregulation-performance relationship. Given that the development of learner adaptability is argued to be a key advantage of active learning frameworks over more traditional training designs (Bell & Kozlowski, 2010; Kozlowski et al., 2001), additional research targeting the role self-regulation plays in the development of adaptability outcomes is warranted.

Conclusion

Dynamic, within-person, process-based research on self-regulated learning has a lot to offer researchers and practitioners interested in implementing and improving active-learning training. By considering the dynamics of self-regulatory processes, this study (a) makes a case for including behavioral self-regulation in models of selfregulated learning, (b) calls into question the capability of exploration instructions to meaningfully influence learner behavior, (c) reveals feedback loops in the relationships between self-regulatory processes and performance, and (d) contributes to the development of a process-based model of self-regulated learning that describes how self-regulatory processes can show both positive and negative effects on skill acquisition at the within-person level. It is my hope that this study provides a

63

foundation for future research that can build upon and expand the present findings and inspires future research on active learning to recognize the centrality of considering the dynamics of self-regulation in the learning process.

References

- American Society for Training and Development. (2010). 2010 State of the Industry Report.
- Anderson, D., & Lucas, K. B. (1997). The effectiveness of orienting students to the physical features of a science museum prior to visitation. *Research in Science Education*, 27(4), 485-495.
- Anderson, J. R., Bothell, D., Byrne, M. D., Douglass, S., Lebiere, C., & Qin, Y. (2004). An integrated theory of the mind. *Psychological Review*, 111(4), 1036. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.111.4.1036
- Arthur, W., & Day, D. V. (1994). Development of a short form for the Raven Advanced Progressive Matrices Test. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 54(2), 394-403. doi: 10.1177/0013164494054002013
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action. Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York, NY: W H Freeman/Times Books/ Henry Holt & Co.
- Bandura, A. (2012). On the functional properties of perceived self-efficacy revisited. *Journal of Management*, 38(1), 9-44.
- Bandura, A. (2015). On deconstructing commentaries regarding alternative theories of self-regulation. *Journal of Management*, 0149206315572826.
- Bandura, A., & Locke, E. A. (2003). Negative self-efficacy and goal effects revisited. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 87-99.
- Beattie, S., Lief, D., Adamoulas, M., & Oliver, E. (2011). Investigating the possible negative effects of self-efficacy upon golf putting performance. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *12*(4), 434-441.
- Beck, J. W., & Schmidt, A. M. (2012). Taken out of context? Cross-level effects of between-person self-efficacy and difficulty on the within-person relationship of self-efficacy with resource allocation and performance. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 119(2), 195-208.
- Beck, J. W., & Schmidt, A. M. (2015). Negative relationships between self-efficacy and performance can be adaptive: The mediating role of resource allocation. *Journal of Management*, 0149206314567778.
- Bell, B. S., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (2002). Adaptive guidance: Enhancing selfregulation, knowledge, and performance in technology-based training. *Personnel Psychology*, 55(2), 267-306. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2002.tb00111.x

- Bell, B. S., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (2008). Active learning: Effects of core training design elements on self-regulatory processes, learning, and adaptability. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 93(2), 296-316. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.93.2.296
- Bell, B. S., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (2010). Toward a theory of learner-centered training design: An integrative framework of active learning. In S. W. J. Kozlowski & E. Salas (Eds.), *Learning, training, and development in organizations*. (pp. 263-300). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Berlyne, D. E. (1954). A theory of human curiosity. *British Journal of Psychology*, 45, 180-191.
- Berlyne, D. E. (1960). *Conflict, arousal, and curiosity*. New York, NY US: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Berlyne, D. E. (1966). Curiosity and exploration. Science, 153(731), 25.
- Bollen, K. A., & Curran, P. J. (2006). *Latent curve models: A structural equation perspective* (Vol. 467): John Wiley & Sons.
- Brown, K. G., & Ford, J. K. (2002). Using computer technology in training: Building an infrastructure for active learning. In K. Kraiger (Ed.), *Creating, implementing, and managing effective training and development* (pp. 192–233). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bruner, J. S. (1961). The act of discovery. Harvard Educational Review, 31, 21-32.
- Cannon-Bowers, J., & Bowers, C. (2010). Synthetic learning environments: On developing a science of simulation, games, and virtual worlds for training. In S. W. J. Kozlowski & E. Salas (Eds.), *Learning, training, and development in organizations*. (pp. 229-261). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Carroll, J. M., & Mack, R. L. (1984). *Learning to use a word processor: By doing, by thinking, and by knowing.* Paper presented at the Human factors in computer systems.
- Carroll, J. M., Mack, R. L., Lewis, C. H., Grischkowsky, N. L., & Robertson, S. R. (1985). Exploring exploring in a word processor. *Human–Computer Interaction*, *1*(3), 283-307. doi: 10.1207/s15327051hci0103_3
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1982). Control theory: A useful conceptual framework for personality–social, clinical, and health psychology. *Psychological Bulletin*, *92*(1), 111.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2001). *On the self-regulation of behavior*: Cambridge University Press.

- Chen, F. F. (2007). Sensitivity of goodness of fit indexes to lack of measurement invariance. *Structural equation modeling*, *14*(3), 464-504.
- Chen, G., Casper, W. J., & Cortina, J. M. (2001). The roles of self-efficacy and task complexity in the relationships among cognitive ability, conscientiousness, and work-related performance: A meta-analytic examination. *Human Performance*, *14*(3), 209-230.
- Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(4), 284-290. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.6.4.284
- Colquitt, J. A., LePine, J. A., & Noe, R. A. (2000). Toward an integrative theory of training motivation: A meta-analytic path analysis of 20 years of research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(5), 678-707. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.85.5.678
- Curran, P. J., & Bauer, D. J. (2011). The disaggregation of within-person and betweenperson effects in longitudinal models of change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *62*, 583.
- Curran, P. J., & Bollen, K. A. (2001). The best of both worlds: Combining autoregressive and latent curve models. In L. M. Collins & A. G. Sayer (Eds.), *New methods for the analysis of change*. (pp. 107-135). Washington, DC US: American Psychological Association.
- Dashiell, J. F. (1925). A quantitative demonstration of animal drive. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, *5*, 205-208. doi: 10.1037/h0071833
- Day, E. A., Boatman, P. R., Kowollik, V., Espejo, J., McEntire, L. E., & Sherwin, R. E. (2007). Collaborative training with a more experienced partner: Remediating low pretraining self-efficacy in complex skill acquisition. *Human Factors*, 49(6), 1132-1148.
- De Lange, A. H., Taris, T. W., Kompier, M. A., Houtman, I. L., & Bongers, P. M. (2004). The relationships between work characteristics and mental health: Examining normal, reversed and reciprocal relationships in a 4-wave study. *Work & Stress, 18*(2), 149-166.
- Debowski, S., Wood, R. E., & Bandura, A. (2001). Impact of guided exploration and enactive exploration on self-regulatory mechanisms and information acquisition through electronic search. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1129-1141. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.86.6.1129
- Dember, W. N., & Earl, R. W. (1957). Analysis of exploratory, manipulatory, and curiosity behaviors. *Psychological Review*, 64(2), 91-96. doi: 10.1037/h0046861

- Dormann, T., & Frese, M. (1994). Error training: Replication and the function of exploratory behavior. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 6(4), 365-372. doi: 10.1080/10447319409526101
- Earl, R. W., Franken, R. E., & May, R. B. (1967). Choice as a function of stimulus change. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 24(1), 183-189. doi: 10.2466/pms.1967.24.1.183
- Erev, I., & Gopher, D. (1999). A cognitive game-theoretic analysis of attention strategies, ability, and incentives. In D. Gopher & A. Koriat (Eds.), Attention and performance XVII: Cognitive regulation of performance: Interaction of theory and application. (pp. 343-371). Cambridge, MA US: The MIT Press.
- Feltz, D. L., & Wood, J. M. (2009). Can self-doubt be beneficial to performance? Exploring the concept of preparatory efficacy. *The Open Sports Sciences Journal*, 2, 65-70.
- Ford, J. K., & Kraiger, K. (1995). The application of cognitive constructs and principles to the instructional systems model of training: Implications for needs assessment, design, and transfer. In C. L. Cooper & I. T. Robertson (Eds.), *International review of industrial and organizational psychology* (Vol. 10, pp. 1-48). New York: Wiley.
- Ford, J. K., Smith, E. M., Weissbein, D. A., Gully, S. M., & Salas, E. (1998).
 Relationships of goal orientation, metacognitive activity, and practice strategies with learning outcomes and transfer. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(2), 218.
- Frese, M., Albrecht, K., Altmann, A., & Lang, J. (1988). The effects of an active development of the mental model in the training process: Experimental results in a word processing system. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 7(3), 295-304. doi: 10.1080/01449298808901879
- Frese, M., Albrecht, K., Altmann, A., Lang, J., Papstein, P. V., Peyerl, R., . . . Wendel, R. (1988). The effects of an active development of the mental model in the training process: Experimental results in a word processing system. *Behaviour* & *Information Technology*, 7(3), 295-304.
- Frese, M., Brodbeck, F., Heinbokel, T., Mooser, C., Schleiffenbaum, E., & Thiemann, P. (1991). Errors in training computer skills: On the positive function of errors. *Human-Computer Interaction*, 6(1), 77-93. doi: 10.1207/s15327051hci0601_3
- Gopher, D., Weil, M., & Siegel, D. (1989). Practice under changing priorities: An approach to the training of complex skills. *Acta Psychologica*, *71*(1-3), 147-177. doi: 10.1016/0001-6918(89)90007-3
- Greif, S., & Keller, H. (1990). Innovation and the design of work and learning environments: The concept of explanation and exploration in human-computer

interaction. In M. A. West; & L. J. Farr (Eds.), *Innovation and Creativity at Work* (pp. 231-249). Chichester: Wiley.

- Gully, S. M., Payne, S. C., Koles, K. L. K., & Whiteman, J.-A. K. (2002). The impact of error training and individual differences on training outcomes: An attributetreatment interaction perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(1), 143-155. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.87.1.143
- Hardy, J. H. (2014). Dynamics in the self-efficacy-performance relationship following failure. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 71, 151-158.
- Hardy, J. H., Day, E. A., Hughes, M. G., Wang, X., & Schuelke, M. J. (2014). Exploratory behavior in active learning: A between- and within-person examination. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*(Advance online publication).
- Harrison, S. H. (2012). Organizing the cat? Generative aspects of curiosity in organization life. In K. S. Cameron & G. M. Spreitzer (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of positive organizational scholarship*. (pp. 110-124). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.
- Heggestad, E. D., & Kanfer, R. (2005). The predictive validity of self-efficacy in training performance: Little more than past performance. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 11(2), 84-97.
- Heimbeck, D., Frese, M., Sonnentag, S., & Keith, N. (2003). Integrating errors into the training process: The function of error management instructions and the role of goal orientation. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(2), 333-361. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00153.x
- Hesketh, B. (1997). Dilemmas in training for transfer and retention. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, *46*(4), 317-339. doi: 10.1080/026999497378124
- Horn, J. L., & McArdle, J. J. (1992). A practical and theoretical guide to measurement invariance in aging research. *Experimental aging research*, 18(3), 117-144.
- Hutt, C. (1966). *Exploration and play in children*. Paper presented at the Symposium of the Zoological Society of London.
- Ivancic, K., & Hesketh, B. (2000). Learning from error in a driving simulation: Effects on driving skill and self-confidence. *Ergonomics*(43), 1966-1984. doi: 10.1080/00140130050201427
- Jennings, K. D., Harmon, R. J., Morgan, G. A., Gaiter, J. L., & Yarrow, L. J. (1979). Exploratory play as an index of mastery motivation: Relationships to persistence, cognitive functioning, and environmental measures. *Developmental Psychology*, 15(4), 386-394. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.15.4.386

- Karoly, P. (1993). Mechanisms of self-regulation: A systems view. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 44, 23-52.
- Keith, N., & Frese, M. (2005). Self-regulation in error management training: Emotion control and metacognition as mediators of performance effects. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(4), 677-691. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.90.4.677
- Kirschner, P., Sweller, J., & Clark, R. (2006). Why minimal guidance during instruction does not work: An analysis of the failure of constructivist, discovery, problembased, experiential, and inquiry-based teaching. *Educational Psychologist*, 41(2), 75-86. doi: 10.1207/s15326985ep4102_1
- Kluger, A. N., & DeNisi, A. (1996). The effects of feedback interventions on performance: a historical review, a meta-analysis, and a preliminary feedback intervention theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, *119*(2), 254.
- Kluger, A. N., & DeNisi, A. (1998). Feedback interventions: Toward the understanding of a double-edged sword. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 67-72.
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., & Bell, B. S. (2006). Disentangling achievement orientation and goal setting: Effects on self-regulatory processes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(4), 900-916. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.900
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., Toney, R. J., Mullins, M. E., Weissbein, D. A., Brown, K. G., & Bell, B. S. (2001). Developing adaptability: A theory for the design of integrated-embedded training systems. In E. Salas (Ed.), Advances in human performance and cognitive engineering research. (pp. 59-123). US: Elsevier Science/JAI Press.
- Kraiger, K., Ford, J. K., & Salas, E. (1993). Application of cognitive, skill-based, and affective theories of learning outcomes to new methods of training evaluation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(2), 311-328. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.78.2.311
- Kubota, C. A., & Olstad, R. G. (1991). Effects of novelty-reducing preparation on exploratory behavior and cognitive learning in a science museum setting. *Journal of research in Science Teaching*, 28(3), 225-234.
- Landsberg, C. R., Astwood, R. S., Van Buskirk, W. L., Jr., Townsend, L. N., Steinhauser, N. B., & Mercado, A. D. (2012). Review of adaptive training system techniques. *Military Psychology*, 24(2), 96-113. doi: 10.1080/08995605.2012.672903
- Li, W.-D., Fay, D., Frese, M., Harms, P. D., & Gao, X. Y. (2014). Reciprocal relationship between proactive personality and work characteristics: A latent change score approach.

- Lindsley, D. H., Brass, D. J., & Thomas, J. B. (1995). Efficacy-performing spirals: A multilevel perspective. Academy of Management Review, 20(3), 645-678. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1995.9508080333
- Loewenstein, G. (1994). The psychology of curiosity: A review and reinterpretation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *116*(1), 75-98.
- Lord, R. G., Diefendorff, J. M., Schmidt, A. M., & Hall, R. J. (2010). Self-regulation at work. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *61*, 543-568.
- MacKinnon, D. P., Krull, J. L., & Lockwood, C. M. (2000). Equivalence of the mediation, confounding and suppression effect. *Prevention Science*, 1(4), 173-181.
- Masuch, M. (1985). Vicious circles in organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 14-33.
- May, R. B. (1963). Stimulus selection in preschool children under conditions of free choice. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 16(1), 203-206. doi: 10.2466/pms.1963.16.1.203
- Mayer, R. E. (2004). Should there be a three-strikes rule against pure discovery learning? *American Psychologist*, 59(1), 14-19. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.59.1.14
- McArdle, J. J. (2009). Latent variable modeling of differences and changes with longitudinal data. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *60*, 577-605.
- McDaniel, M. A., & Schlager, M. S. (1990). Discovery learning and transfer of problem-solving skills. *Cognition and Instruction*, 7(2), 129-159. doi: 10.1207/s1532690xci0702_3
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2010). *Mplus User's Guide*. (6th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Nease, A. A., Mudgett, B. O., & Quiñones, M. A. (1999). Relationships among feedback sign, self-efficacy, and acceptance of performance feedback. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(5), 806-814.
- Nissen, H. W. (1930). A study of exploratory behavior in the white rat by means of the obstruction method. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*(37), 361-376.
- Norman, D. A., & Bobrow, D. G. (1975). On data-limited and resource-limited processes. *Cognitive Psychology*, 7(1), 44-64. doi: 10.1016/0010-0285(75)90004-3
- O' Leonard, K. (2014). The Corporate Learning Factbook 2014: Benchmarks, trends, and analysis of the U.S. training market.

Pintrich, P. R. (2000). The role of goal orientation in self-regulated learning.

- Pintrich, P. R., Wolters, C. A., & Baxter, G. P. (2000). Assessing metacognition and self-regulated learning. In G. Schraw & J. C. Impara (Eds.), *Issues in the Measurement of Metacognition*. Lincoln, NE: Buros Institute of Mental Measurement.
- Porath, C. L., & Bateman, T. S. (2006). Self-regulation: from goal orientation to job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(1), 185.
- Powers, W. T. (1973). Behavior: The control of perception. Oxford England: Aldine.
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Raven, J. C., Raven, J., & Court, J. H. (1998). A manual for Raven's Progressive Matrices and Vocabulary Scales. London: Lewis.
- Rogosa, D. (1980). A critique of cross-lagged correlation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 88(2), 245.
- Salas, E., Tannenbaum, S. I., Kraiger, K., & Smith-Jentsch, K. A. (2012). The science of training and development in organizations: What matters in practice. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 13(2), 74-101. doi: 10.1177/1529100612436661
- Schmidt, A. M., & DeShon, R. P. (2009). Prior performance and goal progress as moderators of the relationship between self-efficacy and performance. *Human Performance*, 22(3), 191-203.
- Schmidt, A. M., & DeShon, R. P. (2010). The moderating effects of performance ambiguity on the relationship between self-efficacy and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(3), 572-581.
- Schmidt, A. M., & Ford, J. K. (2003). Learning within a learner control training environment: The interactive effects of goal orientation and metacognitive instruction on learning outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(2), 405-429. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00156.x
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). *Experimental and quasiexperimental designs for generalized causal inference*: Wadsworth Cengage learning.
- Shrout, P. E., & Fleiss, J. L. (1979). Intraclass correlations: Uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86(2), 420-428. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.86.2.420

- Shute, V. J., & Zapata-Rivera, D. (2008). Adaptive technologies. *Handbook of research* on educational communications and technology, 277-294.
- Sitzmann, T., & Ely, K. (2010). Sometimes you need a reminder: The effects of prompting self-regulation on regulatory processes, learning, and attrition. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *95*(1), 132.
- Sitzmann, T., & Ely, K. (2011). A meta-analysis of self-regulated learning in workrelated training and educational attainment: What we know and where we need to go. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(3), 421-442. doi: 10.1037/a0022777
- Sitzmann, T., & Yeo, G. (2013). A meta-analytic investigation of the within-person self-efficacy domain: Is self-efficacy a product of past performance or a driver of future performance? *Personnel Psychology*, 66(3), 531-568. doi: 10.1111/peps.12035
- Smith, E. M., Ford, J. K., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (1997). Building adaptive expertise: Implications for training design strategies. In M. A. Quiñones & A. Ehrenstein (Eds.), *Training for a rapidly changing workplace: Applications of psychological research.* (pp. 89-118). Washington, DC US: American Psychological Association.
- Soderstrom, N. C., & Bjork, R. A. (2015). Learning Versus Performance An Integrative Review. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *10*(2), 176-199.
- Stajkovic, A. D., & Luthans, F. (1998). Self-efficacy and work-related performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124(2), 240-261. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.124.2.240
- Toker, S., & Biron, M. (2012). Job burnout and depression: unraveling their temporal relationship and considering the role of physical activity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *97*(3), 699.
- Vancouver, J. B. (2005). The depth of history and explanation as benefit and bane for psychological control theories. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(1), 38-52.
- Vancouver, J. B. (2012). Rhetorical reckoning: A response to Bandura. *Journal of Management*, 38(2), 465-474.
- Vancouver, J. B., Gullekson, N., & Bliese, P. (2007). Lagged regression as a method for causal analysis: monte carlo analyses of possible artifacts. Paper presented at the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, New York.
- Vancouver, J. B., Gullekson, N. L., Morse, B. J., & Warren, M. A. (2014). Finding a between-person negative effect of self-efficacy on performance: Not just a within-person effect anymore. *Human Performance*, 27(3), 243-261.

- Vancouver, J. B., More, K. M., & Yoder, R. J. (2008). Self-efficacy and resource allocation: Support for a nonmonotonic, discontinuous model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(1), 35-47. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.93.1.35
- Vancouver, J. B., Thompson, C. M., Tischner, E. C., & Putka, D. J. (2002). Two studies examining the negative effect of self-efficacy on performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(3), 506-516. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.87.3.506
- Vancouver, J. B., Thompson, C. M., & Williams, A. A. (2001). The changing signs in the relationships among self-efficacy, personal goals, and performance. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 86(4), 605-620.
- Vancouver, J. B., Weinhardt, J. M., & Schmidt, A. M. (2010). A formal, computational theory of multiple-goal pursuit: Integrating goal-choice and goal-striving processes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(6), 985-1008. doi: 10.1037/a0020628
- Vancouver, J. B., Weinhardt, J. M., & Vigo, R. (2014). Change one can believe in: Adding learning to computational models of self-regulation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 124(1), 56-74.
- VandeWalle, D. (1997). Development and validation of a work domain goal orientation instrument. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 57(6), 995-1015.
- Wang, M. W., & Stanley, J. C. (1970). Differential weighting: A review of methods and empirical studies. *Review of Educational Research*, 40(5), 663-705. doi: 10.3102/00346543040005663
- Weick, K. (1979). Causal loops and control. *The social psychology of organizing*, 72-88.
- Wendel, R., & Frese, M. (1987). *Developing exploratory strategies in training: The general approach and a specific example for manual use*. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Human–Computer Interaction INTERACT.
- White, R. W. (1959). Motivation reconsidered: The concept of competence. *Psychological Review*, *66*(5), 297-333. doi: 10.1037/h0040934
- Whyte, G., Saks, A. M., & Hook, S. (1997). When success breeds failure: The role of self-efficacy in escalating commitment to a losing course of action. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 18(5), 415-432. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(199709)18:5<415::AID-JOB813>3.0.CO;2-G
- Yechiam, E., Erev, I., & Gopher, D. (2001). On the potential value and limitations of emphasis change and other exploration-enhancing training methods. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 7(4), 277-285. doi: 10.1037/1076-898x.7.4.277

- Yeo, G., & Neal, A. (2006). An examination of the dynamic relationship between selfefficacy and performance across levels of analysis and levels of specificity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(5), 1088-1101. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.91.5.1088
- Yeo, G., & Neal, A. (2013). Revisiting the functional properties of self-efficacy a dynamic perspective. *Journal of Management*, *39*(6), 1385-1396.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (1986). Becoming a self-regulated learner: Which are the key subprocesses? *Contemporary educational psychology*, *11*(4), 307-313.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Attaining self-regulation: A social cognitive perspective. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 13-39). San Diego, CA: Academic press.

Appendix A: Tables

weak-person level M SD 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 MA 0.00 0.31 0.20 11 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 er.TK 0.00 0.81 0.20 13 0.2 13 0.0 11 12 13 14 6C0 3.39 0.35 0.3 0	ole 1 ans, Standard Dev	viations,	, and In	tercorre	elations	of Stud	y Varia	bles at	the Betr	леет- с	md Wit	hin-per	son Le	svels			
pc condition 0.0 0.83 0.9 IA 0.00 0.81 0.9 0.11 1.5 TK 0.00 0.81 0.2 1.5° 0.5 0.1 O 0.39 0.39 0.39 0.7 0.6 -10° 1.8° O 0.39 0.39 0.39 0.36 0.1 0.27° 0.8° 0.7 -0.6 0.2° 1.8° O 0.34 0.66 -0.7 0.6° -10° 0.8° 0.7° 0.9° 0.7	een-person level	Μ	SD	1	2	e	4	5	9	7	~	6	10	=	12	13	14
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	p. condition	0.50	1														
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	VA	0.00	0.85	60.													
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	e-TK	0.00	0.81	02	.15												
G(0) 3.79 0.39 -07 -06 02 18" TL 425 0.64 0.0 08 24" 22" 09 -101 plotatorybelh 2.97 0.38 0.8 16" 38" 07 -08 0.10 27" plotatorybelh 2.97 0.38 0.8 16" 38" 07 -08 0.10 27" ferficacy 3.40 0.76 -106 0.2 22" 0.01 -0.8 30" 38" ferticacy 3.40 0.76 -107 0.8 29" 2.1" -1.3" 40" 23" 57" ferticacy 3.10 113 0.8 26" 32" 20" 2.1" -1.3" 40" 23" 57" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 0.5 -0.6 1.01 114" 36" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 0.7 -0.8 0.10 101 114" 36" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 0.0 -0.6 18" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 0.0 -0.10 114" 36" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 0.0 -0.10 114" 36" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 0.0 -0.10 114" 36" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 30" 0.0 100 114" 36" 26" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 30" 114" 56" 21" 0.7 40" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 0.1 0.0 2.4" 38" 26" 2.1" 31" 31" 31" 31" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 0.1 0.0 10 14" 36" 50" 38" 59" 34" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 0.1 00 2.4" 38" 26" 2.1" 31" 31" 31" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 100 2.4" 38" 50" 38" 50" 38" 50" 34" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 0.1 0.0 2.4" 38" 50" 38" 50" 38" 50" 34" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 100 2.4" 38" 50" 38" 50" 38" 50" 38" 50" 34" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 35" 100 2.4" 38" 50" 38" 50" 38" 50" 38" 50" 34" arkinovledge 2.20 a.10 0.0 10 11" 67" arkinovledge 2.20 a.20 -0.4 14" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = contol, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; The Pretraining ark-related knowledge 2.00 -0.4 14" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = contol, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; The Pretraining ark-related knowledge 2.00 -0.4 14" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = contol, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; The Pretraining ark-related knowledge 2.00 -0.6 0.0 0.0, 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.	02	3.99	0.55	.03	<u>20.</u>	.01											
Clo 2.61 0.80 0.6 -0.7 0.6 -4.2 st 15 st TL 4.23 0.64 0.0 0.8 24 st 23 st 0.9 -10 ^f ploratorybeh. 2.97 0.38 0.8 16 st 38 st 0.7 -0.8 -0.11 27 st detacognition 3.84 0.51 -0.6 0.2 2.3 st 20 st 1.11 ^s 40 st 23 st 57 st Artice perf. 31.62 11.59 -0.2 27 st 70 st 0.2 -0.1 0.3 23 st 55 st 40 st arkinowledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 3.9 st 35 st 0.0 -0.6 18 st 26 st 21 st 0.7 40 st First perf. 31.62 11.59 -0.2 27 st 0.0 0.1 0.1 1.1 st 36 st 55 st 40 st arkinowledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 3.6 st 39 st 0.3 -0.2 0.0 1.00 1.11 st 36 st 25 st 11 st 37 st 41 st 21 st 37 st 41 st 23 st 31 st 31 st 31 st 31 st 31 st First perf. 31.62 11.59 -0.2 27 st 0.01 0.0 0.10 st 14 st 36 st 50 st 24 st 53 st 40 st First perf. 22.43 11.42 0.1 15 st 56 st 0.1 0.0 2.4 st 38 st 66 st 45 st 52 st 11 st 31 st Takenjoyment 3.52 0.86 -0.3 1.0 st 35 st 0.3 0.1 0.0 2.4 st 38 st 66 st 45 st 52 st 18 st 31 st 31 st 31 st 31 st artice session 0.00 1.41 <i>Insperson level</i> M 50 1.2 2.3 4 5 artice session 0.00 1.41 <i>Inservent</i> 2.29 st 1.1 st -06 st terracybel. 2.97 0.49 -49 st fiething year 2.9 st 1.1 st -06 st artice score 31.62 1.3.59 1.4 st -04 -04 14 st Erracy condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; Erracy condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; <i>Exp.</i> Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; <i>Exp.</i> Condition = 1.35.1 st 2.0 st 1.9 ^s 0.05 st p < 0.05 st p < 0.01 (two.tailed).	60	3.79	0.59	07	06	.02	.18										
TL 12 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	60	2.61	0.80	90.	07	90.	42**	.15									
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ц	4.25	0.64	00	80.	.24**	.23**	60.	101								
If efficacy 340 0.76 -10 ⁷ 0.8 49 ^{••} 22 ^{••} 10 ⁷ -08 30 ^{••} 38 ^{••} 40 ^{••} 23 ^{••} 57 ^{••} 40 ^{••} 318.1159 -02 27 ^{••} 70 ^{••} 02 21 ^{••} -13 [•] 40 ^{••} 23 ^{••} 57 ^{••} 40 ^{••} 318.1159 -02 27 ^{••} 70 ^{••} 02 -01 03 23 ^{••} 51 ^{••} 63 ^{••} 40 ^{••} 31 ^{••} 318.1159 -02 27 ^{••} 70 ^{••} 02 -01 03 23 ^{••} 51 ^{••} 63 ^{••} 40 ^{••} 31 ^{••} 31.21 ^{••} 31 ^{••} 31.21 ^{••} 31.21 ^{••} 31 [•] 31 ^{••} 31 [•] 31 ^{••} 31 ^{••} 31 [•] 31 ^{••} 31 [•] 31 [•] 31 [•] 31 [•] 31 ^{••} 31 [•] 31	cploratory beh.	2.97	0.38	.08	.16	38*	.07	08	01	.27**							
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	elf-efficacy	3.40	0.76	101	.08	.49	.22	.101	08	30	38**						
Hactice perf. 31.62 11.59 -02 27" 70" 02 -01 03 23" 51" 63" 40" Taskknowledge 0.61 0.13 0.8 36" 39" 05 -06 -06 18" 26" 21" 07 40" Fets perf. 38.13 16.78 03 24" 54" 03 -02 04 21" 37" 47" 21" 69" 34" 53" 34" 55" 5	Vietacognition	3.84	0.51	06	.02	.23**	.29**	.21**	13*	.40	.23**	.57**					
Taskknowledge0.610.130.83.6"3.9"0.506061.8"2.6"2.1"0.740"Rest perf.38.1316.780.32.4"5.4"0.3020.42.1"3.7"4.7"5.1"5.3"Raster perf.2.2.4311.420.11.5"5.6"0.10.01.011.4"3.6"5.9"5.9"5.3"Raster perf.2.2.4311.420.11.5"5.6"0.10.02.4"3.8"5.0"3.4"5.3"Raster perf.2.2.4311.420.11.5"5.6"0.10.02.4"3.8"5.0"3.4"5.3"Raster perf.2.2.4311.420.11.5"5.6"0.10.02.4"3.8"5.0"3.4"5.3"Raster perf2.2.431.1420.11.123455."5."5."5."5."5."Raster perf2.370.001.41234555."5	Practice perf.	31.62	11.59	02	.27	.70	.02	01	.03	.23**	51**	.63	40				
Test perf.38.1316.780.324**54**0.3-0.20.421**37**47**21**69**34**53***53***53*** </td <td>lask knowledge</td> <td>0.61</td> <td>0.13</td> <td>08</td> <td>36</td> <td>39**</td> <td><u>:05</u></td> <td>06</td> <td>06</td> <td>.18**</td> <td>.26**</td> <td>.21**</td> <td>.07</td> <td>.40</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	lask knowledge	0.61	0.13	08	36	39**	<u>:05</u>	06	06	.18**	.26**	.21**	.07	.40			
Itansfer perf.224311.420115*56*010010*14*36*50*23*53*53*53*Iask enjoyment 3.52 0.86 -0.3 101 3.5^* 0.3 01 00 24^* 38^* 60^* 45^* 52^* 18^* 33^* 33^* Integerson levelMSD12345integerson 0.00 1.41 2.97 0.49 -49^* catcle session 0.00 1.41 2.97 0.49 -49^* integravely beh. 2.97 0.49 -49^* 16^* catcle session 0.00 1.41 2.97 0.49 -49^* integravely beh. 2.97 0.49 -49^* 16^* actice session 0.00 1.41 2.97 0.49 -49^* integration 3.38 0.63 $.13^*$ -06^* 16^* actice score 31.62 13.56 $.14^*$ -04 $.14^*$ actice score lag 28.36 13.66 $.77^*$ -13^* $.19^*$ interce score lag 28.36 13.66 $.77^*$ -13^* $.19^*$ interce score lag 28.36 13.66 $.77^*$ -13^* $.10^*$ interce score lag 28.36 13.66 $.77^*$ -13^* $.19^*$ interce score lag 28.36 13.66 $.77^*$ $.14^*$ $.67^*$ interce score lag 28.36 <	lest perf.	38.13	16.78	.03	.24	.54**	.03	02	.04	.21**	37**	.47**	.21**	••69.	34**		
Task enjoyment 3.52 0.86 -03 .107 35 ⁺ 03 01 00 24 ⁺ 38 ⁺ 60 ⁺ 45 ⁺ 52 ⁺ .18 ⁺ 31 ⁺ 37 ⁺ <i>int-person level</i> M SD 1 2 3 4 5 actice session 0.00 1.41 2 3 4 5 actice session 0.00 1.41 2 3 4 5 actice session 0.00 1.41 2 3 4 5 iff-efficacy 3.38 0.63 .13 ⁺ 06 ⁺ .14 ⁺ actice score 31.62 13.59 .14 ⁺ 04 .14 ⁺ actice score 31.62 13.59 .14 ⁺ 04 .14 ⁺ actice score 31.62 13.59 .14 ⁺ 04 .14 ⁺ actice score 21.62 .13 ⁺ .04 .14 ⁺ .14 ⁺ actice score 21.62 1.9 ⁺ .11 ⁺	Iransfer perf.	22.43	11.42	.01	.15*	.56**	.01	00	.101	.14*	36**	.20 **	.28**	••69.	34**	.53**	
in-person levelMSD12345actice session 0.00 1.41 2.97 0.49 -49°	ľask enjoyment	3.52	0.86	03	.101	35**	03	0.	<u>0</u>	.24	38*	.09	.45	.52	.18**	31*	37**
<i>in-person level</i> M SD 1 2 3 4 5 actice session 0.00 1.41 2.97 0.49 -49" ploratory beh. 2.97 0.49 -49" 40" 40" fleefficacy 3.38 0.83 .13" -06" 44" etacognition 3.84 0.63 .23" -08" .16" actice score 31.62 13.59 .14" -04 .14" actice score 31.62 13.56 .27" -13" .19" .11" .67" Exp. Condition Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 control, 1 exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; Fxp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 control, 1 exploration; PPGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. .ween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. † $p < .05$, ** $p < .01$ (two-tailed). formance-prove goal orientation; APGO																	
actice session 0.00 1.41 ploratory beh. 2.97 0.4949" lf-efficacy 3.38 0.83 .13"06" etacognition 3.84 0.63 2.3"08" .16" actice score 31.62 13.59 1.4"040414" actice score lag 28.36 13.66 2.7"13"19"11"67" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; K = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. ween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. $^{+}_{-} g < .10$, " $p < .05$, "" $p < .01$ (two-tailed).	in-person level	Μ	SD	1	2	3	4	5									
ploratory beh. 2.97 0.49 -49" If-efficacy 3.38 0.83 .13" -06" etacognition 3.84 0.63 2.3" -08" .16" actice score 31.62 13.59 .14" -04 -04 .14" actice score lag 28.36 13.66 2.7" -1.3" .19" .11" .67" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; K = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. Ween-person = 305. <i>N</i> within-person = 1525. $^{+}_{T} \ge .10$, $^{*}_{P} \ge .05$, $^{**}_{P} \ge .01$ (two-tailed).	actice session	0.00	1.41														
If efficacy 3.38 0.83 .13" -06" etacognition 3.84 0.63 2.3" -08" .16" actice score 31.62 13.59 .14" -0.4 .04 .14" actice score lag 28.36 13.66 2.7" -1.3" .19" .11" .67" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; The Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. Ween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. $^{+}_{T} g < .10$, " $p < .05$, "" $p < .01$ (two-tailed).	cploratory beh.	2.97	0.49	49**													
etacognition 3.84 0.63 23" -08" .16" actice score 31.62 13.59 .14" -04 -04 .14" actice score lag 28.36 13.66 27" -13" .19" .11" .67" Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; TX = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. Ween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. † $p < .10$, * $p < .05$, ** $p < .01$ (two-tailed).	lf-efficacy	3.38	0.83	.13*	06												
actice score 31.62 13.59 .14*0404 .14* actice score lag 28.36 13.66 27*13* .19* .11* .67* Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; K = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. tween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. $^{+}_{2} \ge .10$, $^{*}_{*} p < .05$, $^{**}_{*} p < .01$ (two-tailed).	etacognition	3.84	0.63	23**	08	.16**											
actice score lag 28.36 13.66 27^* 13* .19* .11* .67** Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; IX = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. tween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. † $g < .10$, * $p < .05$, ** $p < .01$ (two-tailed).	actice score	31.62	13.59	.14	04	04	.14**										
Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; IK = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. tween-person = 305. N within-person = 1525. $^{\dagger} p < .10$, $^{*} p < .05$, $^{**} p < .01$ (two-tailed).	actice score lag	28.36	13.66	.27	13**	.19	. H	.67**									
IX = Pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO rformance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. tween-person = 305 . <i>N</i> within-person = 1525 . † $\underline{p} < .10$, * $p < .05$, ** $p < .01$ (two-tailed).	Exp. Condition	= Expl	oration	manipu	lation (6	coded: () = cont	rol, 1 =	explor	ation in	Istructi	ons); G	- MA	general	menta	ability	
formance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to leam. tween-person = $305. N$ within-person = $1525.^{\dagger} p < .10,^{*} p < .05,^{**} p < .01$ (two-tailed).	TK = Pre-training	g task-r	elated k	nowled	ge; LG(D = lear	ning go	al orien	tation;	PPGO	= perfo	ormanc	e-prove	e goal o	nientati	on; AP	8
ween-person = $305. N$ within-person = $1525.^{\dagger} p < .10,^{*} p < .05,^{**} p < .01$ (two-tailed).	formance-avoid	goal or	ientatio	n; MTL	= pre-t	raining	motivat	tion to l	eam.								
	tween-person =	305. N	within-p	erson =	= 1525. [†]	R = .10	, * p <	.05, **	010. > 0	(two-ta	iled).						

¢	N	
	٩	
	ō	
	rd	
F	-	

Fit Statistics and Predictor Coefficients for Conditional Latent Growth Models

								λ			
Variable	$\chi^2(df)$	CFI	SRMR	RMSEA [upper 90% CI]	DVa	GMA	Pre-TK	LG0	PPGO	APGO	MIL
Performance	35.47 (28)	66	.03	.030 [.056]	Intercept	.10*	.74**	.06	03	.091	.04
					Slope	.28**	.08	16	03	221	.13
Self-efficacy	180.10(40)	.94	.03	.107 [.123]	Intercept	05	.50**	.28**	.08	.05	.13*
					Slope	.08	01	20**	04	16*	.06
Metacognition	86.88 (28)	.95	.05	.083 [.103]	Intercept	13*	.26*	.16*	.16**	03	.22**
					Slope	.16*	15*	.03	00 [.]	06	.15*
Exploratory	76.10 (28)	.95	90.	.075 [.096]	Intercept	.10†	.36**	06	06	03	.18**
behavior					Slope	.02	80.	.19*	12†	11.	.06

= .20, p > .05), the self-efficacy intercept and slope ($\gamma = -.10$, p > .05), the metacognition intercept and slope ($\gamma = -.40$, p < .01), and related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO = performance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. Not shown are the relationships between the performance intercept and slope (γ approximation; $CI = confidence interval; \gamma = standardized coefficient; GMA = general mental ability; Pre-TK = Pre-training task-$ *Note.* CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = standardized root-mean-squared residual; RMSEA = root-mean-square error of the exploration intercept and performance slope ($\gamma = -.06$, p > .05).

^aFor each repeated variable, either its latent intercept or latent slope was the dependent variable associated with the predictor coefficients presented in the columns to its right.

N = 305. † p < .10, * p < .05, ** p < .01 (two-tailed).

Table 3

Hierarchical Multiple Regres	sion Results for th	he Prediction of I	Learning Outcomes	by Self-
regulatory Processes				

Model/Variable	В	SE	β	R^2	ΔR^2
Practice performance					
1. Self-efficacy	7.32^{**}	0.81	.48	$.40^{**}$	
Metacognition	1.24	1.13	.06		
2. Exploratory	9.71^{**}	1.36	.32	.49**	$.09^{**}$
behavior					
Task knowledge					
1. Self-efficacy	.028*	.012	.17	.05**	
Metacognition	019	.016	08		
2. Exploratory	.069**	.020	.21	.09**	.04**
behavior				,	
Analogical transfer					
1. Self-efficacy	9.60^{**}	1.40	.43	.23**	
Metacognition	-2.76	1.96	08		
2. Exploratory	9.91**	2.35	.23	.27**	.04**
behavior					
Adaptive transfer					
1. Self-efficacy	6.37^{**}	0.95	.42	.24**	
Metacognition	-0.17	1.32	01		
2. Exploratory	6.16 ^{**}	1.59	.21	$.28^{**}$	$.04^{**}$
behavior					
Task enjoyment					
1. Self-efficacy	0.51^{**}	0.07	.45	.37**	
Metacognition	0.26^{**}	0.09	.15		
2. Exploratory	0.38^{**}	0.11	.17	$.40^{**}$.03**
behavior					

Note. The regression weights shown are from the final model. N = 305. [†]p < .10, ^{*}p < .05, ^{**}p < .01 (two-tailed).

Table 4

Model/Variable	В	SE	β	R^2	ΔR^2
Exploratory behavior					
1. GMA	.003	.036	.01	$.20^{**}$	
РТК	.124**	.035	.26		
LGO	.035	.042	.05		
PPGO	074^{*}	.036	11		
APGO	.013	.028	.03		
MTL	.116**	.033	.20		
2. Exp. condition	.054	.040	.07	$.20^{**}$.00
3. Exp. condition \times GMA	.060	.048	.10	.21**	.01
$Exp.$ condition \times PTK	.062	.050	.09		

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Results for the Exploration Instructions on Exploratory Behavior and Learning Outcomes

Note. Exp. Condition = Exploration manipulation (coded: 0 = control, 1 = exploration instructions); GMA = general mental ability; PTK = pre-training task-related knowledge; LGO = learning goal orientation; PPGO = performance-prove goal orientation; APGO = performance-avoid goal orientation; MTL = pre-training motivation to learn. The regression weights shown are from the final model. N = 305. [†]p < .10, ^{*}p < .05, ^{**}p < .01 (two-tailed).

Fit Statistics, Co	efficients, and Inter-fa	ctor Relationshi	ips for	- Cross-la	gged Latent Gro	wth Models	with Practice	Performance
Process	Cross-lagged				RMSEA		Performance	Process to
variable	model	$\chi^2(df)$	CEI	SRMR	[upper 90% CI]	AIC	to process	performance
Self-efficacy	Independent	378.76 (94)	92	.03	.100[.110]	13443.96		
	Performance to process	285.64 (93)	<u>۶</u>	.03	.082 [.093]	13352.84	.12**	
	Process to performance	357.78 (93)	93	03	.086 [.107]	13424.98		19**
	Bidirectional	279.92 (92)	<u>95</u>	03	.082 [.093]	13349.12	.12**	10*
Metacognition	Independent	187.65 (76)	<u>95</u>	.04	.069 [.082]	12897.52		
	Performance to process	172.20 (75)	96	.04	.065 [.078]	12884.07	.07**	
	Process to performance	184.06 (75)	<u>.</u> 95	.04	.069 [.082]	12895.93		.01
	Bidirectional	167.48 (74)	96	.04	.064 [.077]	12881.35	.07	.02*
Exploratory	Independent	142.55 (76)	76	<u>.05</u>	.054 [.067]	12061.55		
Denavior	Performance to process	134.46 (75)	97	<u>.05</u>	.051 [.065]	12055.46	05**	
	Process to performance	135.28 (75)	97	<u>.05</u>	.051 [.065]	12056.28		.02
	Bidirectional	127.99 (74)	98	<u>50</u>	.049 [.063]	12050.99	05**	.02**
Inter-factor	Self-efficac	y Self-effica	[]	Metacogr	ition Metacog	nition Exj	ploration	Exploration
relationships	intercept	slope		interce	pt slop.	e in	tercept	slope
Performance int	ercept .41**	.161		.32*	10		.44**	.15
Performance slo	ре .05	.67**		.07	.42*	•	16	.32*
					•			

Note. Cross-lagged parameters were specified in four ways: (1) Independent = cross-lagged paths constrained to 0, (2) Performance to CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = standardized root-mean-squared residual; RMSEA = root-mean-square error of approximation; process = only paths directed to the active-learning process were estimated, (3) Process to performance = only paths originating from the active-learning process were estimated, and (4) Bidirectional = both paths to and from the active-learning process were estimated. CI = confidence interval; AIC = Akaike information criterion.

N = 305. $^{\uparrow}p < .10, ^{\bullet}p < .05, ^{\bullet\bullet}p < .01$ (two-tailed)

Table 5

Fit Statistics, Co	oefficients, and Inter-faci	tor Relationsh	ips for	Cross-lag	gged Latent Grow	th Models w	ith Exploratory	Behavior
Process	Cross-lagged				RMSEA		Exploration	Process to
variable	model	$\chi^2(df)$	CFI	SRMR	[upper 90% CI]	AIC	to process	exploration
Self-efficacy	Independent	300.82 (94)	.94	.05	.085 [.096]	3560.45		
	Exploration to process	270.53 (93)	.94	<u>.05</u>	[060.] 670.	3532.16	.05**	
	Process to exploration	269.49 (93)	.94	.05	.085 [.096]	3558.12		09
	Bidirectional	267.84 (92)	<u> 95</u>	.05	[060.] 670.	3531.47	.03**	071
Metacognition	Independent	196.65 (76)	.94	90.	.072 [.085]	2978.50		
	Exploration to process	182.02 (75)	.95	90'	.068 [.081]	2965.87	.02**	
	Process to exploration	191.95 (75)	.94	.06	.072 [.084]	2975.80		02*
	Bidirectional	176.97 (74)	<u> 95</u>	.06	.068 [.080]	2962.83	.02**	02*
Inter-factor	Self-effi	cacy	Self	-efficacy	Meta	cognition	Meta	cognition
relationships	interce	pt		slope	п.	tercept		slope
Exploration inte	ercept	•		.03		12		-09
Exploration slo	ре .03			.18*	0.)5		.10
Note. Cross-lags	red parameters were spe	cified in four v	Vavs: ((1) Indepe	endent = cross-lag	red paths co	nstrained to 0. (2) Exploration t

Note. Cross-lagged parameters were specified in four ways: (1) Independent = cross-lagged paths constrained to 0, (2) Exploration to
process = only paths directed to the active-learning process were estimated, (3) Process to exploration = only paths originating $from$
the active-learning process were estimated, and (4) Bidirectional = both paths to and from the active-learning process were estimated.
CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = standardized root-mean-squared residual; RMSEA = root-mean-square error of approximation;
CI = confidence interval; AIC = Akaike information criterion.
$N = 305$. $^{\dagger}p < .10$, $^{*}p < .05$, $^{**}p < .01$ (two-tailed).

Table 6

82

Appendix B: Figures



Figure 1. Dynamic trends in study variables over the course of practice. Measurement occasion T1 preceded practice session S1, T2 preceded S2 etc. The y-axis is scaled to represent approximately +/- one standard deviation around the mean.



Figure 2. Models representing the specification of the bivariate crosslagged latent growth model of the dynamic relationship between repeated variables. For figure simplicity, error terms and influence of the control variables on the latent intercepts and slopes are not shown.



Figure 3. Dynamic process model of self-regulated learning.

Appendix C

Study Protocol

Task
Introduction
Informed consent
Demographic questionnaire and control measures
Training PowerPoint presentation
Practice trial (1 min)
Baseline skill assessment, trials 1 and 2 (3 min each)
Pre-training self-efficacy measure
Session 1
Exploration instructions manipulation
Session 1, practice trials 1-4 (3 min each)
Metacognition measure, time 1
Self-efficacy measure, time 1
Session 2
Exploration instructions manipulation refresher
Session 2, practice trials 5-8 (3 min each)
Metacognition measure, time 2
Self-efficacy measure, time 2
5 min break
<u>Session 3</u>
Exploration instructions manipulation refresher
Session 3, practice trials 9-12 (3 min each)
Metacognition measure, time 3
Self-efficacy measure, time 3
Session 4
Exploration instructions manipulation refresher
Session 4, practice trials 13-16 (3 min each)
Metacognition measure, time 4
Self-efficacy measure, time 4
Session 5
Exploration instructions manipulation refresher
Session 5, practice trials 17-20 (3 min each)
Metacognition measure, time 5
Self-efficacy measure, time 5
Enjoyment measure
Test phase
Post-training performance test, trials 1 and 2 (3 min each)
Advanced progressive matrices
Task knowledge test
Adaptive transfer performance test, trials 1 and 2 (3 min each)

Appendix D

Exploration instructions

Recent research in our lab has shown that when learning a skill such as Unreal Tournament, learners will often settle on a single strategy they discover early on in practice and will not try anything else. However, this learning approach was found to be inefficient and will often lead learners to get stuck in a rut and not get any better. By only trying one approach, you will miss out on alternative strategies that allow you to get better at the game.

As you practice Unreal Tournament in this study, pay attention to this tendency in yourself and work to overcome it *by practicing as many different things as possible* and carefully considering your successes and failures in reference to each approach you try.

For example, during practice, make sure you try <u>all</u> of the weapons as well as their secondary *capabilities* to find which one works best for you. Consider the different situations in which each weapon might be useful. Sometimes combinations of primary and secondary firing modes or even various weapons can be combined for increased effectiveness.

Also, *try to visit and fight in as many places on the map as you can* so you can get a good feeling for how the environment affects your performance and style of play. By exposing yourself to many different locations, you will improve your ability to succeed in a variety of environments.

Finally, *make sure to try many different strategic approaches as you practice.* You may experience success with one approach; however, there may be an even better strategy that you simply have not tried yet. By trying multiple strategies, you will become a more flexible player better able to adapt to the environment.

So remember, for the next 4 practice games; *continue exploring the Unreal Tournament game*. In the long run, the more willing you are to try multiple approaches during practice, the better you will be at Unreal Tournament when you are asked to perform your best.

For the rest of the practice session, you may use the cutie window to proceed at your own pace. And remember, THE MORE YOU EXPLORE DURING PRACTICE, THE BETTER YOU WILL BE AT UNREAL TOURNAMENT IN THE END.

Control instructions

Recent research in our lab has shown that when learning a skill such as Unreal Tournament, practice is important. However, not trying hard enough was found to be an inefficient approach and will lead learners to not achieve their full potential. By not doing your best, you will miss out on learning that will allow you to get better at the game.

As you practice Unreal Tournament in this study, pay attention to whether or not you are trying your best and carefully consider your successes and failures.

For the next 4 practice games; *continue to try your best in the Unreal Tournament game*. In the long run, the harder you try, the better you will be at Unreal Tournament when you are asked to perform your best.

For the rest of the practice session, you may use the cutie window to proceed at your own pace. And remember, **THE HARDER YOU TRY TO DO YOUR BEST DURING PRACTICE, THE BETTER YOU WILL BE AT UNREAL TOURNAMENT IN THE END.**